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Tuesday, October 4, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  I think we will get started.

This is the technical conference in EB-2016-0186, Union's panhandle leave-to-construct application.

My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  People have pre-filed their questions, so we will get to them in just a moment, but why don't we do appearances around the room, and I understand Union has some brief preliminary matters.  So Charles, can we start with you?
Appearances:


MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer on behalf of Union Gas.  With me is Mr. Mark Kitchen and Ms. Karen Hockin.

MR. MILLAR:  Dwayne?

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Michael.  Dwayne Quinn, on behalf of FRPO.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, consultant for VECC.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Laura Van Soelen on behalf of IGUA.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for OGVG.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. MILLAR:  And on the phone?

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant for LPMA.

MR. WOLNIK:  John Wolnik for APPrO.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that everyone on the phone?

Okay.  Charles?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, just a few preliminary matters, and then some -- a little bit of an overview of some information from Union.

So maybe we can start, actually -- we have a fairly big panel here today.  So perhaps we can start with the individuals introducing themselves by name and title, and perhaps we could start at their right side of the panel.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Amy Mikhaila, manager of rates and pricing.

MR. TETREAULT:  Greg Tetreault, manager, accounting and finance support.

MR. SHORTS:  Chris Shorts, director of business development and upstream regulation.

MR. WALLACE:  Dan Wallace, manager of system planning and project development.

MS. CAILLE:  Jackie Caille, director, residential, commercial, and industrial sales.

MR. HOCKIN:  Dave Hockin, manager, strategic development.

MR. REINISCH:  Warren Reinisch, director of planning and forecasting.
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Preliminary Matters:


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Just as another preliminary matter, there are a couple of IRs that we just wanted to correct or update.  Maybe I can direct the first to Ms. Caille and you could put that on the record.

MS. CAILLE:  So I wanted to point people to FRPO 9(c).  There is a couple of corrections to a few of the figures in that response.

In the second sentence, where it says "customers were allocated 59,900 metres cubed per hour", and in brackets it says that is 37 tJs per day, that figure should say 32, rather than 37.

And in the last sentence, where it says "Union expects 64,060 metres cubed an hour", that should say 61,508, and in brackets it currently says 39.6, and that should say 37 tJs per day.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Keizer, will those be refiled as well?  Or is that the way you intend to deal with it?

MR. KEIZER:  We could, if people felt more comfortable that way.  We just intended to correct them on the record today by way of technical conference, but if you felt that we needed to, we could do that.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm just -- if you could refile them as well.  Would that be okay?

MR. KEIZER:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  We may in any event, with respect to another correction, which Mr. Hockin can actually speak to.

MR. HOCKIN:  The correction is in LPMA 17, attachment 1, which is paraphrased -- it says -- give me the remaining rate base over -- after depreciation for periods of ten, 20, 30, 40, and 50 years.

When I look at the data, the data as represented for remaining rate base is the opening balance for that year, and it should be shown as the closing balance.  So I will update and replace that schedule.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  So maybe what we can do, then, is -- hopefully our one and only undertaking today -- is to provide an undertaking that we will file the updated schedule in LPMA 17 and also refile the FRPO 9(c) showing the correction.

And I think there may be a knock-on effect with respect to some of the changes in LPMA 17, so to the extent there are, we will file that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that will be JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO FILE THE UPDATED SCHEDULE IN LPMA 17 AND ALSO REFILE THE FRPO 9(C) SHOWING THE CORRECTION.

MR. MILLAR:  Were there any other preliminary --


MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, just one other preliminary matter, in actual fact it is more, I think, assistance of -- for parties here today.  Obviously one of the big questions is, you know, how does this panhandle system work with respect to Union?  So what we thought and what we have done -- and maybe it will give for some people in the room all of the same kind of starting point -- we have a schematic which now appears on your screen which is entitled "The Panhandle Reinforcement Project and the Panhandle System Schematic".

What we were inclined to do is have one of the panel basically take people through this schematic with a simple explanation as to how the system operates from a variety of perspectives.  Obviously it is an overview.  It would be very short and very brief, so we don't erode any of the period available for questions, but we thought it would be helpful if we could do that.

So I guess two things.  One, if we could have this schematic marked, but also then if I could ask Union to, then, walk through this in a very high-level way, that would be the last matter.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's do that.  We will mark the schematic of the Panhandle Reinforcement Project as KT1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  SCHEMATIC OF THE PANHANDLE REINFORCEMENT PROJECT.

MR. MILLAR:  And we will allow the witnesses to speak to it.

MR. WALLACE:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer, good morning, everyone.

What I've got here on this schematic, it is essentially the same as Exhibit A, tab 4, Schedule 3 that you will find in the evidence.  What we have added is some colours here to depict the various maximum operating pressures on the panhandle system.  So our blue lines are 6040kPa MOP pipelines, orange being our 4140kPa MOP pipelines, red being our 3,450 kPa MOP pipelines, and then black being the 2,930kPa ... [off-mic]..

MR. KEIZER:  Can you actually just clarify when you use the word "MOP" what that means for the purpose of the record?

MR. WALLACE:  Absolutely.  MOP being maximum operating pressure.

So the panhandle transmission system is comprised of two pipelines, NPS-16 pipeline, shown in blue and orange and ultimately red here, that connects Dawn... [off-mic]..

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, yeah, it's Mark Garner.  You're going to have to speak up a little bit.  It is hard to hear you...

MR. WALLACE:  Can you hear me now?

MR. GARNER:  Yeah, like you're singing at a wedding.  You have to...

MR. KEIZER:  You have to do your rock-star impersonation.

MR. WALLACE:  All right.  Here we go.  So the panhandle transmission system is two pipeline -- comprised of two pipelines, an NPS 16 pipeline and an NPS 20.  The NPS 16, shown here in blue, orange, and ultimately red connects Dawn, ultimately, to Ojibway valve site, and the NPS 20 connects Dawn to the NPS 16/20 junction, shown down here in Windsor.

NPS 16, between Dawn and Dover transmission, is a 6040 KPA MOP.  Beyond that the pipeline pressures MOP is reduced to 4140 KPA between Dover transmission station and Grand Marais, and then ultimately it is reduced again beyond Grand Marais to 3450 KPA, heading over to the Ojibway valve site.

The NPS 20 pipeline is a 6040 KPA MOP from Dawn all the way to Sandwich transmission station, where the pressure is reduced to 3,450 KPA MOP, it carries on to the connection at the 16/20 junction.

There is a 15.7 kilometre section of the NPS 16 in Lakeshore that has been replaced with NPS 20.  And although the NPS 16 and the 20 between Dawn and Dover transmission are physically connected both at Dover Centre valve site and Dover transmission, on a design day they operate independently, and that is in order to maximize the capacity of the system, their capability to feed the downstream systems.

The demand served by the panhandle transmission system are in the Municipality of Chatham-Kent and the communities within the County of Essex.

Specifically looking at Leamington Kingsville area at the bottom of the map, fed off the 20, it is fed by Essex transmission station, Mersea Gate station, and the stations along the Leamington north lateral downstream of Comber transmission station.

Windsor demands are serviced from stations connected to the NPS 16 panhandle line.

Approximately 90 percent of the demands in the market are served from supplies from Dawn where Union has its storage and its gas supply all located.

Ten percent are served using Union's gas supply that arrives at Ojibway.

So that gas supply arriving at Ojibway is about sixty tJs a day, and it is relied upon and consumed in the Windsor market to support the design day condition of the pan-handle_ transmission system.

Reliance on that sixty tJs a day to date has allowed deferral of infrastructure investment reinforcement on the pan-handle system.

The Ojibway River crossing itself is composed of two NPS 12 pipelines, with a MOP of 2930 kPa, and they have a capacity of 210 tJs a day as per their presidential permit, which is federal government Of the United States stipulation for their border crossing.

The ability to import gas on to Union’s system from Ojibway, whether it is Union's gas supply or C-1 transportation, is limited by the ability of the market to burn that gas, and the ability of the existing transmission systems, or the compressor station at Sandwich and the other piping, to move the remainder back to Dawn.

So in the summertime, our import capability is 115 tJs a day, and in the winter time, it is 140 tJs a day.

There are two main pressure constraints on the pan-handle system.  One is on the NPS 16 feeding the Brighton Beach power station, where we're contractually obligated to provide them with 1724 kPa.

The second is on the NPS 20 in Leamington area, where we need to meet a minimum inlet into our Leamington Northgate station of 2275 kPa, in order to maintain pressures in the downstream 1900 kPa distribution system.

In the winter time, the constrain on the system is the capacity of the existing 20-inch between Dawn and Sandwich.

Operationally in the winter, gas flows from east to west.  On design day, we maximize the ability of the 16-inch to feed into the Windsor market by setting Dover transmission station as high as possible.

However, the market in Windsor is larger than can be served by the 16-inch alone, so we supplement the demands with supply through Sandwich coming down the 20-inch out of Dawn.

The 20-inch also again feeds the demands in the Leamington-Kingsville area, and the capacity to feed the demands in the Leamington-Kingsville area is maximized when we retain as much pressure as possible on the NPS 20, which means sending only enough gas through Sandwich transmission station as required to meet the minimum amount at Brighton Beach power station.

So our proposed project of NPVs 36 lift and lay of the 16 between Dawn and Dover transmission.

Once tied in at Dover transmission with the 20 will provide for increased pressures along the entire NPS 20. Those increased pressures will allow additional market to attach in Windsor by feeding additional gas through Sandwich, and will also facilitate growth in the Leamington-Kingsville market.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  We just wanted to provide that overview and then provide the schematics, so that people were able to see this from a number of different perspectives.

So with that, the panel is available for technical conference questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Did somebody just join us on the phone?  Okay.  Dwain, I think you are going to get us started.
Questions by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Millar.  Good morning, panel.

I wanted to, I guess, at the outset ensure that we take care of any procedural preliminary matters relative to the submission of questions that we provided on Friday.

We provided a series of questions, we provided some data and certainly some maps that we will refer to through the course of our discussions this morning.

Is it appropriate that we add this as an exhibit first off, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  I think -- I imagine there will be some back and forth on some of your questions.  It was pre-filed with the Board.  But I think, just for identification, let's mark it so we know what we're talking about.

So that will be JT1.2, and those are the pre-filed questions that you sent to the Board last Thursday or Friday.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  FRPO PRE-FILED TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTIONS

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Now, from that point, we have obviously submitted questions and we appreciate the Board providing us an opportunity to do so, so that some matters could be addressed in advance.

And so I guess my question to Union Gas is:  Is Union Gas willing to undertake the response to all of these questions?  If you are not in a position to answer the questions, please provide a reason why you cannot provide the answers.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, our understanding was that you were going to put the questions to the panel.  We would answer them today, or we would at least answer what we could.  And to the extent that it was relevant, we would then contemplate what the form of the undertaking would be from that point on.  That is the way we had understood the process.

MR. MILLAR:  I think what would be best is, to the extent we can, let's get questions answered on the record today.  If there are some things that have to be taken away, then that can be done by way of undertaking.  And then if there are some things Union is disinclined to answer, I guess we will hear about that as well.

So why don't we go through it question by question.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, and I appreciate that.  I recognize some of the answers require a little bit of simulation work that may not have been undertaken for this morning.  And therefore, if we're distinguishing the answers as available today or not going to be available, we appreciate understanding that differentiation.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, let's go through the questions and see what we have.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

I guess I am going to go to FRPO 14.  But I want to address Mr. Wallace's presentation, which I appreciate is an overview to remind us of the big picture relative to pan-handle lines in general.

One of the things that we did not see, and it may come in response to some of the questions that we ask, but to ensure that we have this information at the very least, Mr. Wallace, can you provide us the maximum operating pressure of the different segments between Cumber transmission station transmission station all the way down to Leamington Northgate station?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  Those segments of pipeline operate at the same pressure as the NPS 20, 60-40 KPA long.

MR. QUINN:  So right down to Leamington gate, you have the ability to use up to 60-40 kPa?

MR. WALLACE:  That is the MOP of those pipelines.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  You've got different stations in between.  Is there pressure regulation in each of those stations on the way to Leamington North Gate?

MR. WALLACE:  Only into the distribution networks that are attached to it.

MR. QUINN:  So the transmission line itself is not regulated in terms of pressure?

MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  That's a great clarification; I appreciate that.

One other point, and it is on our copy and I think it is on your copy, too.  There is – it looks like an ink mark that goes from the Dover Centre valve site through the Dover Centre station to Chatham.

Is the Dover Centre station only fed by the Dover Centre valve site?  Or what does that line represent?  Maybe you could help us with that.

MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, that is -- so the Dover Centre station is geographically distinct from the Dover Centre valve site, and that squiggly line is the connection from the Dover Centre valve site to the Dover Centre station.

MR. QUINN:  So when you were giving your overview, you talked about the two lines operating independently in the winter.

Can you elaborate on that, as to the effectiveness or what efficacy Union is desiring to get by operating them independently as opposed to two together?

MR. WALLACE:  Right.  So the idea is that reserving the NPS 16 to solely feed Windsor, so we can take as much gas as the market needs, or I guess as we can provide, upstream of Dover trans.  We want to maintain the outlet pressure at Dover trans at or near MOP.

If we service the Chatham market off of that pipeline, and the Windsor market insofar as possible off of that 16 and leave the 20 dedicated insofar as possible to the Leamington-Kingsville market, notwithstanding it has to continue to feed some through Sandwich into the Windsor market, that maximizes the capability.

If we were to tie those pipelines together, what would end up happening is you would end up having a greater pressure reduction on the 20, and you would end up with less capacity available to feed the -- to feed the Leamington-Kingsville market in today's operation.

MR. QUINN:  So you said something in there, and I thought I heard it wrong initially.  But as you elaborated -- you're feeding Windsor, did you say predominantly through the 16-inch?

MR. WALLACE:  We're feeding Windsor as much gas as we can flow through the 16-inch, and then we're supplementing whatever can't be served with the 16-inch through the 20 via the Sandwich transmission station.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just off the top of your head -- and I don't need a very precise answer -- but what percentage of the Windsor market is fed through Grand Marais versus what is fed through Sandwich?

MR. WALLACE:  This may be a bit of assistance if you turn to FRPO 18.  In the schematic in response to (a), essentially in the notes shows that the existing demand in the Windsor area there is 221 tJs.

Currently you will see in the orange on the right-hand side it looks like we supply Sandwich with about 163, and I am not sure of the context of this, but basically there's a fair amount of feed through the Sandwich transmission station, and the flow is coming from the 16-inch, don't typically make it too much further than Grand Marais station.

MR. QUINN:  Just to make sure I am interpreting this correctly, though, is it correct to say that 46 is coming through Grand Marais and 16 through Sandwich heading west?

MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, yeah, the 46 is a market line fed off of the 16, and same with the 16.  Those numbers are representative of laterals or past year for service -- supply leaving the red line.

MR. QUINN:  So to make sure we have context, that is about three-quarters, then, of the Windsor market -- three-quarters of the flow that is coming from Dawn to the Windsor market, three-quarters of it goes through Grand Marais, approximately?

MR. WALLACE:  No.  No.

MR. QUINN:  This is what I'm trying to understand, what is the 16 versus the 46.

MR. WALLACE:  The 16 is gas that is leaving the 20-inch and heading down towards Harrow on the distribution side of the system.

MR. QUINN:  So netting that out, then, are you saying 147 -- current supply is 163.  So 16 is heading to Harrow, 147 is heading to the Windsor market?  That doesn't seem to add up, but I just -- I am trying to make sure that we understand these figures, Mr. Wallace, so I appreciate any clarity you can provide.

MR. WALLACE:  So in the diagram, what we have here is we have a market of 221, 58 of which is being served by Ojibway, 163 of which is being served by the NPS 20 through Sandwich, and Grand Marais is effectively a null point on the 16.

MR. QUINN:  So if I heard you correctly, the 16-inch doesn't really feed Windsor?

MR. WALLACE:  So Grand Marais is in -- it is in Windsor.  It is in the west side of Windsor.  So there is the Windsor market both east and west of Grand Marais station.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  To be clear, Grand Marais doesn't feed any of the market west of that station on a design day based upon this schematic.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, based upon the schematic.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you, that is helpful.

Okay.  I appreciate you flipped us to FRPO 18, but if you can return to FRPO 14, attachment 1, page 2 of 2.  We can start there.  I know it's going to be a little bit of an eye test, but I trust you have a better copy in front of you.

The response to FRPO 14 says that:

"In the summer the panhandle system is constrained by the capability of the Sandwich compressor station to move Ojibway imports back to Dawn and by the capacity of the pipe between Sandwich compressor station and Ojibway."

If you look at the flow schematic, it says 2016.  Is the flow schematic the same in 2017, '18, and beyond?

MR. WALLACE:  So starting in 2017, the schematic, the numbers would change, in terms of demands.  We would have a different facility in here, in terms of the existing 16 between Dawn and Dover transmission.

Is there something more specific you are driving at there?

MR. QUINN:  I guess this gets to our first question, number 1 on the submissions we made on Friday:

"Can you please provide the summer design day schematics for 2017, which is the year of the application, and 2021, which is the five-year forward look, using the forecast demand underpinning the application with only existing facilities; in other words, without the lift and lay."

MR. WALLACE:  I guess just in response, and maybe as to the earlier part of your question, the volumes may be different.  They're not going to be significantly different than what you see here.  The summer demands are not really going to increase a great deal.

These are, again, demands in the summertime.  Our application is obviously dealing with the winter condition and design day condition.

MR. QUINN:  Are you able to provide the schematic updated for those -- the years -- the year of the application and 2021?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  I don't see why not.

MR. QUINN:  If we can have an undertaking, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That is JT1.3.  And is that to provide a copy of the schematic for the summer months?

MR. QUINN:  For the summer -- it is a summer -- and I am going to get the terminology hopefully correct, Mr. Wallace -- you can correct me if I am not -- this is the Union summer design-day condition that provides information as to the constraints on flow into the Windsor market and into Dawn.  Is that correct?

MR. WALLACE:  So we don't have really a summer design-day condition.  That is not the constraint on this system. This is demonstrating the import capability.

MR. QUINN:  But to be clear, this is a summer model with summer loads which helps you determine the maximum amount of imports you can take into the Windsor market in the summer?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's sufficient clarity, Mr. Millar, and then --


MR. MILLAR:  That's JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE SCHEMATIC FOR THE SUMMER MONTHS.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

Now -- excuse me.  I apologize for clearing my throat.  I am overcoming a cold.

Okay.  So continuing on that, on the submission of questions we made last Friday, can you provide the actual consumption by electricity generators in the Windsor market for the summers of 2013, '14, and '15 and provide it in the form of an Excel spreadsheet?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, the issue we have with respect to the actual consumption of electricity generators is the concern about whether or not that provides certain market intelligence to the extent that it is treated in a non-confidential way, and whether or not it is something that we actually have to show you by way of breakdown of each individual electricity generator or whether it is something that we can do in the aggregate.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, thank you for clarifying.  Our intent was in aggregate.  Not differentiating the individual generators in the commercial sensitivity of that information.

MR. KEIZER:  If I could just have a moment.

We still have some concerns about whether parties could back things out of the aggregate.  So if we file the information, we would prefer to file it in confidence.

MR. QUINN:  We can accept, because it may come up later, any confidentiality -- any confidential information we would undertake to sign the appropriate confidential -- confidentiality agreement with the Board as per the standard practice.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  So a determination on confidentiality would ultimately have to be made by the Board, but certainly you can file it with a request for confidentiality and it can be dealt with in the normal manner.

MR. KEIZER:  I would assume that to the extent parties are interested they could either indicate their affirmation or consent to that at the time.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  Okay.  So let's do it on that basis.  The undertaking is JT1.4, and it is to provide the Excel spreadsheet as requested in your question?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, provide the actual consumption by the aggregate of electricity generators in the Windsor market for the summers of 2013, 2014 and 2015.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO PROVIDE THE ACTUAL CONSUMPTION BY THE AGGREGATE OF ELECTRICITY GENERATORS IN THE WINDSOR MARKET FOR THE SUMMERS OF 2013, 2014 AND 2015

MR. QUINN:  I am going to just explore, and make sure we're on the same page in terms of summer design.

Would it be fair to say the design capacity increases when the demands west of Sandwich increase?

MR. WALLACE:  Insofar as you could guarantee an increase in market west of Sandwich, then it would increase your capability to import gas.

MR. QUINN:  So that is a yes?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. WALLACE:  Again, I would like to qualify that.  It is the guaranteed minimum portion of it.  So insofar as we have a new demand come on, it may be a high design day demand, but in the summertime it may have a very low consumption.  So we would be looking at that low end as a guarantee, if any.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I’m just -- and you can turn it up or take it subject to check, but in the middle paragraph of FRPO 15, page 2, you say, Ojibway supply can efficiently serve the west of the Windsor market.

So to the extent that gas is consumed west of Sandwich, that effectively increases your design day capacity, in terms of what you can import?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  That section, if you could just orientate me again here.  I am just trying to find it on page 2 of FRPO 15?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  It is under the bullet points.  It starts -- the paragraph starts:  “These factors allow supply arriving ...”

MR. WALLACE:  Right.  So again, I am referring to -- I am more so referring to a winter design day condition than the summer.  But again, in the summer situation, if there was an increase to the guaranteed minimum market, then that would facilitate the ability to accommodate higher Ojibway imports and consume them.  It’s all about guaranteeing consumption of those imports.

MR. QUINN:  So back to FRPO 14, attachment 2, you show the assumed demands on the pan-handle system under design day conditions, and delivery pressure under those design day conditions.

That is -- I am calling it design day, but the summer design condition, do you have a terminology we can use to make sure we're on the same page, Mr. Wallace?

MR. WALLACE:  I can live with yours.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Summer design day condition?

MR. WALLACE:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  So that is what you're showing me in attachment 2?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  If you look down -- and again, it is fairly small print -- you can see the volumes in pressures on the left-hand side.  The second entry in that table is Brighton Beach power station west to west Windsor Power?  That's correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  And this is the part -- most of the power  generation demand for the Windsor market, is that correct?  Is there another generator?

MR. WALLACE:  There are four generators that make up about a -- I guess a total on a winter design basis of about a quarter of the entire market.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So just to differentiate.  TransAlta-East Windsor, that’s one of those remaining?

MR. WALLACE:  There is TransAlta, there is East Windsor, there is Brighton Beach and west Windsor Power.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So that is the total of the four generators.  So is it says zero.  Can you explain to me why you assume no delivery under these design day conditions?

MR. WALLACE:  So I am assuming there is no demand in that situation.

So again, we're looking to demonstrate here why we can only accept 115 tJs of imports, or guarantee firm acceptance of 115 tJs of imports.  And that is because there is a lot of times where Brighton Beach Power and the other generators aren't generating, they aren't consuming.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So in FRPO 8 C1, you gave us a flow chart.  You can turn it up, Mr. Wallace; I think it is helpful.  It gives a flow chart showing how you derived in- franchise design day demand development.

Was it that process used to give us the zero gJ per day assumption for the generators?

MR. WALLACE:  This is really how we derive our winter design day demand.  Again, we don't really have a summer design condition.  What I am trying to show with that schematic is the limitation to import 115 tJs a day.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate -- so this is your in-franchise design day condition for winter.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Can you, by way of undertaking, just provide a simple explanation of how you achieve your summer design day conditions, what's the process?

MR. KEIZER:  I think the witness has already said there is no summer design day conditions.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, I was trying to check for clarity in terms of the wording I’m using.

How did you come up with the schematic in FRPO 14, attachment 2?  What was the process used, and what assumptions were made to generate that schematic?  That is what we're trying to understand.

MR. WALLACE:  So again -- and this is where maybe the design day nomenclature gets confusing -- we don't have a design day condition, in terms of what’s the – you know, servicing maximum demands in the summer; that isn't a constraint on our system.

Here we are looking at sort of the low end of the demand spectrum, and what we could guarantee as far as consumption on the market.

MR. QUINN:  So again, we will leave out the word "design day" because that seems to be a stumbling block for some.

Can you provide us, by way of undertaking, the process used and the assumptions made for attachment 2 of FRPO 14?  I understand it is different from what you have given us in 8 C, and I respect that.  But we're trying to understand how FRPO 14 was generated for summer.

MR. WALLACE:  I mean, essentially, if you look at the power stations, we have experienced zero flow conditions, or zero demand conditions for those customers.  So we say that is the low end of the spectrum for those customers.

For other contract and heat sensitive customers, we would again look at what their consumption history has been, and what -- the likely minimums they would reach, and we have incorporated that.

MR. QUINN:  I am hearing terms like “likely minimums”.  I was hoping for a little more rigour, in terms of are you looking at X number of years of consumption history, base load versus heat sensitivity?

These are terms that we could walk through, you and I, Mr. Wallace, over a coffee.  But I thought for the purposes of saving us some time, if you could just record how you came up with it and what the assumptions were that were made.

MR. WALLACE:  I can do that.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.  We will do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION RELATED TO THE CALCUMATION OF LIKELY MINIMUMS


MR. QUINN:  We are sticking with summer, but I think it might be helpful if you turn up FRPO 15, page 2.

In the second paragraph, it says:

“Ojibway supply can serve the west Windsor market efficiently in a one-to-one ratio on a design day due to a number of factors, which include …,”

And the second bullet point under it says,

“Power generation plants, which make up a large portion of the demand in the Windsor market, consume at a constant volumetric rate with no peak hour factor.”

Again, when you use the term “design day”, you're talking about a summer design condition in this case, where there is no delivery under your summer design condition?

MR. WALLACE:  Here I am referring to a winter design condition.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So that is a helpful clarification.  So when you look at the facilities you are going to need in the Panhandle system, are you only looking at a winter design day demand?

MR. WALLACE:  The facilities we’ve proposed are strictly for a winter design day condition.

MR. QUINN:  But gas supply, or gas coming in at Ojibway is part of that design winter condition, correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, it is.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  So would it be fair to say under summer design, gas comes from Ojibway, moves east past Sandwich compressor station to serve demand on the 20-inch line?

MR. WALLACE:  No.  No, gas supply coming in out of Ojibway can't move past Sandwich.  It is consumed.  It is all consumed in the Windsor market.

MR. QUINN:  In the summer design day with your generators at zero?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Why is it, they cannot serve -- to the extent that you had additional flow beyond your current -- and actually, maybe I will just -- I will --


MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, maybe a point of clarification.  So in a summer scenario gas that isn't -- the Ojibway supply that isn't consumed in the market does move through Sandwich back towards Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That is different than what you said just a minute ago --


MR. WALLACE:  I know.  I am just clarifying my point.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  For the record, to make sure it is clear, gas coming in out of Ojibway in excess of the Windsor market needs can and will flow past Sandwich and can feed the Leamington market?

MR. WALLACE:  In the summertime.

MR. QUINN:  In the summertime.

MR. WALLACE:  When the compressor is turned on, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So you need the compressor to get it to move to the Leamington market or to Dawn?

MR. WALLACE:  Correct.  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  So either one.  So it could be feeding Leamington or it could be -- the compressor could be taking the gas back to Dawn?

MR. WALLACE:  Well, the gas is being compressed into the 20-inch, and the Leamington market is fed off the 20-inch, so --


MR. QUINN:  And to the extent --


MR. WALLACE:  -- to the extent that there is still market that is coming off there, if there is not enough market the gas would return to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Would return to Dawn to be stored?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.

So again, sticking with the summer design conditions, the flow schematic show all the power is used up in the compressor station.  That is in the bottom right, you provide a compressor station characteristics, power available, power consumed.  Am I reading that correctly?

MR. WALLACE:  We're looking under the compressor station parameters on page 2 of 2 of FRPO 14, the schematic summary?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, yes.

MR. WALLACE:  2.8 megawatts available, 2.8 megawatts required.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Would it be fair to say if there is more horsepower at the compressor station you could move more gas from Ojibway east on the 20-inch line?

MR. WALLACE:  To a certain extent that is true.  At some point we have a suction pressure problem on the upstream side between Ojibway and Sandwich.  So we get to a certain volume, we would not only need compression, but we would probably need some pipe reinforcement on that side as well.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so I am going to ask it this way, and we will answer what we can here and go from there.  But how much more gas could you add if you install another comparably sized compressor unit at Sandwich?

MR. WALLACE:  I can't answer that right now.  I haven't really undertaken to look at what additional horsepower at Sandwich --


MR. QUINN:  Would you look at that, and given the caveat you added in terms of a pressure constraint upstream on the suction side, if you could highlight what that condition is and what constraint it creates?

You have -- in your design flow condition you have assumed the generators are at zero, and yet you have 115 gJs coming in in the summer?  That's correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So with a second unit, how much more volume could be moved through Sandwich not holding 115 constant?  In other words, how much more gas could you take in at Ojibway if you added a second compressor unit?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I think the witness said he didn't know at this --


MR. QUINN:  No, but I am asking by way of undertaking, Mr. Keizer --


MR. KEIZER:  And my question, I guess, is, just for clarification, I am assuming this requires some engineering and some other things, and so I am a bit reticent with respect to acknowledging the undertaking in the event that it is going to embark on a significant degree of engineering and whatever else.

So I guess...

MR. QUINN:  I am not asking for a station, Mr. Keizer, to be engineered.  I am asking if you were adding a second compressor with the same characteristics --


MR. KEIZER:  I understand what your question is.  I am asking for clarification just in terms of what the degree of difficulty is with respect to being able to do this and whether or not certain assumptions are going to have to be made, which...

MR. WALLACE:  Well, again, I guess one of my questions is, a second compressor -- there's a variety of available compressors.  I guess, what sort of volume am I looking to move?

MR. QUINN:  What I am saying is add the compressor and determine how much volume you can move.  Not leaving 115 as a cap at Ojibway.  That can be done with a simple simulation; is that correct, sir?

MR. WALLACE:  We can do that with a simulation.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  So there is no engineering involved, Mr. Keizer.  That is not what I am asking for at this point.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I guess what we can -- can I have just a moment?

Yeah.  That's fine.  I think it is a question which we may have to consider what elements of assumptions and qualifications we have to make in regard, but we will attempt to do our best.

MR. QUINN:  If I may, to limit the amount of work that Union is concerned about undertaking, I am looking at FRPO 14, all the same conditions, add a second compressor, and solve for how much gas can come in at Ojibway.

That is minutes, Mr. Wallace, in terms of work, maybe hours, to characterize the compressor, would you say?  Like a couple of hours?

MR. WALLACE:  Yeah, I am not going to speculate on the time, but it is -- it is doable.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  We will mark that as JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  TO ADVISE HOW MUCH MORE VOLUME COULD BE MOVED THROUGH SANDWICH NOT HOLDING 115 CONSTANT; I.E., HOW MUCH MORE GAS COULD YOU TAKE IN AT OJIBWAY IF YOU ADDED A SECOND COMPRESSOR UNIT.

MR. QUINN:  And I want to separate this out, because this may take some engineering involvement without an awful lot of additional specificity.  I am not looking for a precise cost estimate.  But what we are looking for is a high-level cost estimate on what the cost of the additional horsepower would be.

So if you were to add a comparably sized compressor, what would that cost be, and very much budget level, plus or minus a million, plus or minus 20 percent -- I won't say a million.  I will say plus or minus 20 percent type of estimate.  Are we talking something that's bigger than a bread box?  We would like a high-level cost estimate as a separate undertaking to the extent that Union is willing to provide that.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, we will do it on the -- on the -- we will have a look at it and try to give you as best we can do.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that will be a separate undertaking, JT1.7, and it's to provide a high-level cost estimate for a second compressor?
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  TO PROVIDE A HIGH-LEVEL COST ESTIMATE FOR A SECOND COMPRESSOR AT SANDWICH.

MR. QUINN:  Correct, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, is that at Ojibway?

MR. QUINN:  No.  At Sandwich.

MR. MILLAR:  At Sandwich, okay, thank you.

MR. QUINN:  So I think you said this earlier, but I'm just making sure that I am touching all my bases here.

With a second compressor, assuming you can move more gas, that gas would, to the extent it is greater than the market in Leamington, that gas would eventually flow to Dawn for storage?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, it would eventually flow back to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Would you need to undertake anything at Dawn to receive that gas?  Would any facilities have to be updated, improved?  Or is that normal course of business today?

MR. WALLACE:  I would have to look at that, depending on the volume we're talking about.

MR. QUINN:  Well, what I want to ensure, Mr. Wallace, is, we have, in this case, added compression and increased the flow at Sandwich that is going to be a likely outcome of the compressor.

I would like to know if there are any restrictions that Union would have to receive that gas at Dawn.  I don't think there would be, sir, but I just, I didn't want to be surprised with the undertaking response.

MR. WALLACE:  Right.  So I can't answer that on the stand.  It will have to be part of the undertaking response to --


MR. QUINN:  If you would include that, sir.  That is what I'm trying to make sure that we have clarity on.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  So that will be part of JT1.7, part of the cost estimate?  Or would you --


MR. QUINN:  Part of the -- actually, the 1.6, Mr. Millar, I think would be more effective.  Mr. Wallace, would you agree?

MR. WALLACE:  Fine.

MR. KEIZER:  All of this is in the context of the summer, correct?

MR. QUINN:  All of this is in the context of the summer, thank you, Mr. Keizer, we're on the same page.

So I would like to turn now to the winter design conditions in FRPO 14, but it's attachment 1, page 1 of 2.

Now, differentiating this schematic, this is your winter design-day conditions, Mr. Wallace?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  And on this schematic, you assume a receipt of 60 tJs from Ojibway.  I understand and respect that that is going to evolve, but for the purposes of this simulation you use 60 tJs at Ojibway?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  And I think it is scattered throughout the different interrogatory responses, but can you tell us why you use the 60, just at a very high level, to make sure we're on the same page?

MR. WALLACE:  So 60 tJs is -- has been Union's own supply, that we have control over the arrival of that gas at Ojibway, and we use it to service demands in the market and, insofar as doing that, we may be able to defer reinforcement on the system.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And you can turn it up, if it is helpful, Mr. Wallace.  But I can just tell you in FRPO 3(a), you’ve said the receipt capacity at Ojibway is 115 tJs in the summer and 140 tJs in the winter.

You used 115 tJs of receipt capacity when you did the summer design capacity.  Can you reproduce the flow schematics for winter design day using 140 tJ receipt capacity at Ojibway?

MR. WALLACE:  My issue with that is 115 tJs at Ojibway is not our design condition.  We can't count on that volume being available to us.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sir, we're going to take it one step at a time.  But we're trying to get information and understand the capabilities of your system versus what design conditions you have imposed.

So we would like to have the winter design day using the 140 tJs receipt at Ojibway for 2017 and for 2021.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess the problem is that I have a problem with the scenario you are presenting, because it is not gas we otherwise would have available to us.  So it's a bit fictional, because it is not what is really the issue before the Board or the current contractual circumstance.

So I am having a hard time, and given the witness', it doesn't apply to what Union has to actually impose that design condition on the winter when it is not doable.

MR. QUINN:  We are going to hopefully take this step by step, Mr. Keizer, and we will be looking at alternatives different from what Union put on the record in its evidence.

And this information is helpful to us, in terms of understanding the capabilities of the system; not the constraints of supply at Ojibway, but the capabilities of the system.

We will get to, later on, that flows have exceeded 140 tJs per day in the winter.  We understand Union is concerned about making sure that supply is considered firm and they can count on it.  So we would like that simulation to be done using the 140 that Union stipulates as the winter design condition in FRPO 3 (a).

MR. KEIZER:  Just give me a moment?

Okay, that's fine.  I think what you are trying to  do is establish the physical parameters and obviously, as we do the analysis, we will deal with whether appropriate assumptions we had to made with respect to the analysis.

MR. QUINN:  Accepted.  And we're talking about 140 tJs as the supply, correct?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, you're talking about that amount of gas.

MR. MILLAR:  So it’s JT1.8.  And could you repeat the undertaking, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  It is contained in our submission, but I will, just for the record.  It is in the submission that was Exhibit JT1.2, question 3, please provide the winter flow schematic showing the maximum receipt of 140 tJs for both 2017 and 2021 using forecasted demand underpinning the application with existing facilities; in other words, without the Panhandle reinforcement.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO PROVIDE THE WINTER FLOW SCHEMATIC SHOWING THE MAXIMUM RECEIPT OF 140 tJS FOR BOTH 2017 AND 2021 USING FORECASTED DEMAND UNDERPINNING THE APPLICATION WITH EXISTING FACILITIES; IN OTHER WORDS, WITHOUT THE PANHANDLE REINFORCEMENT


MR. QUINN:  And this is a data question.  Again moving to number 4 in our list we submitted in JT1.2, can you please provide the degree days experienced and the daily consumption in the winter market separated between electricity generation and non-generation load for the winter -- for the winter period, specifically November to March, for the last three years, and please provide that in the form of an Excel spreadsheet.

MR. KEIZER:  So I guess on this one, I am not quite sure what the relevance is and what you are trying to accomplish by way of the question.  That’s the thing we're struggling with.

MR. QUINN:  The relevance, sir, is to understand the actuals versus the design condition.

You've made some assumptions about summer generation for -- that it will be experienced in the winter market.  We're talking about winter generation, and we think the best evidence is what has happened in the last three years in the Windsor market.

So this is simply data, and it is data that would again be a query to your database, and pull that information into a spreadsheet.

MR. KEIZER:  So we would have the same comment we had earlier with respect to the electricity generation aspect, that that data we would have to provide on a confidential basis.

MR. QUINN:  That one we’re going to have to think through.  You can submit your request for confidentiality, I understand, but this information your system information.  So submit it as you would, and we will determine whether we would have concerns about confidentiality in this matter.

MR. KEIZER:  Just so people know why we're doing it, we are not doing it to be painful.  But basically, the fact is that, you know, we do exist in a competitive electricity market, where generators need to understand or could understand that if the data is in the public record, potentially could extract from it historical dispatch information for other generators, which could lead to information which otherwise could compromise people's future dispatch.

So that is the reason why we're sensitive about the information.  To the extent, as well, that we may know things that people could extract out of it, but obviously those particular generators, knowing their business in even greater detail, may be able to extract information we couldn't otherwise even contemplate.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's mark it as JT1.9 and we will see what happens.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  TO PROVIDE THE DEGREE DAYS EXPERIENCED AND THE DAILY CONSUMPTION IN THE WINTER MARKET SEPARATED BETWEEN ELECTRICITY GENERATION AND NON-GENERATION LOAD FOR THE WINTER PERIOD, SPECIFICALLY NOVEMBER TO MARCH, FOR THE LAST THREE YEARS, IN AN EXCEL SPREADSHEET FORMAT


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Millar.

Okay.  So moving on to FRPO 6 (c) initially, I am trying to understand the constraints that Union has submitted on the Ojibway volume.

So at question 5 in our Exhibit JT1. -- am I saying that right, Mr. Millar?  I have a concern.  Is it KT -- in my submissions from last Friday, I wrote JT but I think it -- is it KT?

MR. MILLAR:  I actually marked it as JT in error.  So it should have been K -- you're right, it should have.  I am not going to renumber all of the undertakings.

MR. QUINN:  No, no, please don't.  I thought I may have made a mistake myself.

MR. MILLAR:  I’m sorry, that should have been KT1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.2:  LPMA TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTIONS

MR. QUINN:  So question 5 in that submission from last Friday, we asked:
“Please provide the actual receipts in Exhibit B, FRPO 20, separated between Ojibway and Dawn.  And specifically for the Ojibway receipts, please provide a daily breakdown between the receipts from C-1, receipts for Union's system gas from annual transportation contracts, and Union system gas from monthly or spot gas purchases.”

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, did you want me to reply to that?  Was that a question?

MR. QUINN:  We're asking for an undertaking to provide that data.

MR. SHORTS:  I will just make some clarification.  So when you are looking at the answer to FRPO 20, those are the physical receipts that were measured each and every day, a combination of -- for the Panhandle, that was Ojibway plus Dawn.

We can provide the actual daily breakdown between Ojibway and Dawn.  We just don't break down the actuals by whether it is C-1 or the gas supply.

MR. QUINN:  You don't, sir.  But you would have nominations that came in from people who have C-1 contracts, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  The nominations, though, and the scheduled volumes don't necessarily equal the actual flow.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the scheduled volumes and what was actually received is what we're looking for.

So you have, from party A, who has a C-1 contract, they've scheduled some volumes; some of it, most of it, all of it flowed.  Total those up, but separate out your system gas receipts both from an annual transportation perspective and any additional monthly or spot purchases into a separate category.

MR. SHORTS:  And just for clarity, what I am saying is that when we actually show the actual volumes, so the actual measured volumes that come to Ojibway, so the volumes that Mr. Wallace has to look at, which is the actual volumes not the scheduled volumes, and they can actually be quite different.

I know you had a question about some volumes that you took from our daily summary report, and the actuals were 50,000 gJs different than actually what was nominated and scheduled.

So I am just saying, they will be dramatically different.  So if we were showing that, the column would not add up to the total of what the actual physical volumes that were flowing from Ojibway and from Dawn, would not equal the nomination scheduled.

MR. QUINN:  Let's keep this simple.  We're speaking specifically about Ojibway.  We want you to separate out those Dawn volumes.  But at Ojibway, why would -- what is different?  Let's take this one step at a time.  On your gas day reports where it's just where I pull the information on your informational posting, walk us through, again, how those volumes are derived.

MR. SHORTS:  That summary report are the nominated and scheduled paper transactions for the day.  They do not reflect the actual physical volumes that would have been received from Ojibway on that day.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So would it be -- well, let's just say we still want the actual volumes, so I think the actual is the data we're looking for, but I would like it broken down by the three categories.

Is there any constraint on your ability to provide that information in the way we've asked for it?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I don't separate on actual volumes showing up, physical actual volumes.  I don't separate those between C-1 -- we don't colour-code those molecules, so we don't know -- I can't separate C-1 from gas supply.

So for example -- and can I take you to that question you had on -- I don't know if that was Friday, where you had -- you had three days of volumes that were -- you said were higher than the residential permit, just to give you an example or provide some clarity?

MR. QUINN:  We're going to get there very shortly, Mr. Shorts.  So I am going to ask one more time, can you provide the data that we're looking for, and to the extent you have to estimate the breakdown between C-1, Union system gas from annual contracts, and Union system gas from monthly or spot purchases, you can take a pro rata share based upon the scheduled and nominated, using that information, we would then have a proportional amount of gas coming through Ojibway that actually flowed.  Would that be correct?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if that's an appropriate proxy, because I think what the witness has said is that the schedule is different than the actual, and also that they don't differentiate the gas with respect to what actually comes in.

So you are asking for a proxy, which may not have any validity.

MR. QUINN:  If there is a constraint on receipt capability, Mr. Shorts, are the nominations reduced on a pro rata basis?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  Because we have an operational balancing agreement, or an OBA, with Panhandle, those -- that transaction would -- for example, the OBAs are a discretionary sort of reasonable efforts operational agreement between the two pipelines.

So what you will find is that, for example, we may have, as I mentioned before, a 50,000 gJ a day difference.  We don't know what's caused that difference, whether that's the C-1 or the supply, because we don't break it down that way from an actual perspective.

MR. QUINN:  But your nominations group would either say yes or no to the nomination?  Correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  But the nomination may not impact the physical flow because of the operational balancing agreement that is in place with the Panhandle.

MR. QUINN:  So it is absorbed into the operational balancing agreement, so you can add a fourth category and show the balance in the operation -- your OBA account, and that would allow us at least to have some differentiation between what actually flowed and where it came from.

MR. KEIZER:  I think what I'm hearing is that we can give you actual flows and that we can, based on what was in FRPO 20, break down the differential between Ojibway and Dawn, but that is what we have the capability -- that's with the data we have, and that is what we're prepared to give you.

MR. QUINN:  Well, then we will do the math if you can provide that, and at Ojibway provide the scheduled -- and I'm just going to use your terminology, Mr. Shorts -- nominated and scheduled for each of those three categories, and we will do the math, but in addition to that we would like your OBA balance for each of those days in that period.

MR. KEIZER:  If I could just have a moment.  No, I don't think we're going to give you that, because we think, one, it's not -- they're not necessarily related, and so we don't believe that there is an appropriate correlation.  And so we are prepared to provide you the differential of the actual flows, which is the data that we have, which -- the other data is not, as I think the witness has said, is not correlated to the actual flows.

MR. QUINN:  It is not correlated, sir, and you can put the caveats on you want, but we're asking just for the percentages of what was nominated and scheduled from each of the respective categories.  That is data, that data that Union has, and it differentiates C-1 from Union's requested gas for system gas, either differentiated on the basis of an annual contract or spot or monthly purchases.  That is all data that Union has, and it goes to who controls the gas and what assumptions can be made about that control.

So I think it is very relevant, and you can put the caveats on what you believe the ability to pro rate the information, but with the OBA we will be able to see the whole picture.

MR. SHORTS:  And just to be clear, there is really no proration.  What the GMS group or our gas management group would do is they would look at, for example, the C-1 activity if customer A had nominated 20,000, then that would -- they would show as actually getting 20,000, even if zero flowed on that day.  They would show, from a -- from the scheduled perspective and the nomination perspective that they got 20,000, but it could be that they actually got zero because the OBA took the swing.

Likewise, it could be the same with the supply.  So the supply would have shown, say, 60,000, but maybe the supply only ended up flowing 30,000 because the OBA took the swing.  We can't differentiate the OBA taking the swing on either component.

MR. QUINN:  No, you can't, and I respect that.  So you just give us the volumes that were scheduled and nominated from each of the three categories, provide the OBA, and you put all the caveats you just said, Mr. Shorts, on the record in terms of that applicability, in terms of being able to take those volumes into actual flow, but with the actual flow and that information, we will understand what percentage of the gas is, generally speaking, provided by the market, provided by Union, or the Union going to the market on a spot basis.

MR. KEIZER:  No, I don't think -- we're not providing you that data.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Shorts, I'm going to try it one more time, because I am hearing no, but I don't understand --


MR. KEIZER:  I'm saying no, Union is saying no --


MR. QUINN:  On the basis -- what basis, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  I think the data you're asking for is not correlated.  I think you're trying to establish a proxy which the witness has said isn't necessarily related to the actual data.

And so as a result, they are two different things.  There's apples and oranges.  And if you are trying them together then it is not a relevant request.  So at this stage we're saying no to the request.

MR. MILLAR:  What are you willing to provide, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  We are willing to provide the clarification with respect to FRPO 20, which is the separation between Ojibway and Dawn with respect to the actual flows.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am going to mark that as JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  TO PROVIDE THE CLARIFICATION WITH RESPECT TO FRPO 20, WHICH IS THE SEPARATION BETWEEN OJIBWAY AND DAWN WITH RESPECT TO THE ACTUAL FLOWS.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

So I am going to ask a different question.  Please provide for each of those winters on a daily basis Union's system gas flow from annual transportation contracts.  If you can do that, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, did you want that as nominated?  Or would you want that as the actual physical flow that was received at Ojibway?

MR. QUINN:  You are going to give us the total.  We're going to ask what was scheduled and nominated from -- for system gas from your annual transportation contracts for each day.

MR. SHORTS:  During which period?

MR. QUINN:  The three years that we have asked for.

MR. KEIZER:  You're just asking the same question, but basically breaking it into pieces.

MR. QUINN:  I am breaking it into pieces, sir, because --


MR. KEIZER:  Well, ask your question, and then we will refuse, and then we will move on, and you can deal with it at a later date.

MR. QUINN:  These are annual transportation contracts, and Union is creating a designed condition that we are trying to understand -- designed condition versus what gas Union has control over.

So can we assume that you -- if it was 60 tJs was the amount of system gas you had, it flowed each and every day of that three-year period, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  You can't make that leap, because, for example, as we replied, you're going to have situations in which we may have mitigated an oversupply situation, or we could have a scenario where we had maintenance on the system.

MR. QUINN:  So scheduled and nominated.  Can you tell me if there are any days in that period where you did not schedule and nominate your full contractual capability, and what was the contractual capability for each of those periods?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know the answer to that.  I would have to take a look.

MR. QUINN:  Can you do it by undertaking, please?

MR. KEIZER:  If I could have a second?  Thanks.  Can you just repeat the undertaking request?

MR. QUINN:  I am going to try to make it concise and hopefully clear.  Please provide, for the three years requested, Union's system gas scheduled and nominated from their annual transportation contracts.

MR. KEIZER:  That wasn't the question I heard.  I heard it was that you wanted to know what contractual capacity we had during those periods of time.

MR. QUINN:  You have a certain capability in your contracts; contractual capacity is a vernacular.  In this case, that is what I have asked for is: what was scheduled and nominated from your annual transportation contracts for each day in the last three years.

To the extent it is the same each and every day, Mr. Shorts, it should be a fairly easy answer.

MR. SHORTS:  And as we showed in – I am trying to remember which one where we showed the percentage.

For example, on FRPO 3, you're going to see that there will be times in which it was not at 100 percent, for the reasons that we quoted in FRPO 3 (c).

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you have given us the reasons in 3(c), and there is a nice picture to go with it.  But we're looking for the specific data for your annual transportation contracts, what was scheduled and nominated for that period.

MR. SHORTS:  So just for clarity, is that question 6 on your sheet that you provided?  So are you looking for that period January 1, 2014, to September 28, 2016.  Is that the period you are -- I just want to clarify we're getting the periods correct.

MR. QUINN:  That's the period.  But to be specific, we're asking for – yes, we're asking for those volumes for that period.  Question 6 talks about daily receipts, which is a different number.  So I don't want to get it confused.

We're talking for scheduled and nominated each day from Union's annual transportation contracts by way of spreadsheet.

MR. SHORTS:  For that period?

MR. QUINN:  For that period.

MR. KEIZER:  I have a hard time understanding this, because one of the issues that we have had in this hearing is what the actual flows are and what we have -- what ability we have to flow.

I am not quite sure what the variations from day to day really matter in terms of what Union's capable to do.  We started this discussion where you discounted and got rid of the sixty tJs, and said let's only talk about 140, and now we're talking about the sixty.

But you know the contractual capacity and you know what we actually flowed.  I am not quite sure why the variation from day to day on this is relevant as to what the physical capacity of Ojibway is, which seems to be the germane issue here as to whether or not we can increase supply, that Union can increase supply at Ojibway.

MR. QUINN:  Union has the data, and we need that data to understand what is physically capable -- what the system is physically capable to take.

The receipts have exceeded 140 for many days throughout the winter.  We are trying to understand who is bringing in that gas, and Union is one party that is bringing in that gas, annual transportation contracts, and we're trying to get an understanding of how much was scheduled and nominated from Union's annual transportation contracts during that period.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, the scheduled and nominated isn't going to tell you who did the 140, because what we've already heard from the witness is the fact that they don't line up.  And it is the actual that really matters, so --


MR. QUINN:  Scheduled and nominate, sir, provides us the gas that Union has control over and what it is requesting.

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, I think part of the issue is Mr. Wallace assumes from a design perspective that we bring in the sixty on a gas supply perspective.  And that's the number that we would be planning on, and that Mr. Wallace would be planning on Union control and to guarantee that that sixty could come in each and every day when we required it.

MR. QUINN:  So we're asking what actually happened.  So annual transportation contracts, was it scheduled and nominated at the level you had for each of those periods?  I will make it simple, for just the winter.

MR. KEIZER:  Are you asking whether we scheduled something more than the sixty?

MR. QUINN:  I am breaking it down, sir, to something that should be a factual response, and Mr. Shorts has demonstrated that you're capable to provide it.

We would -- we need an understanding of what is flowing at Ojibway and who is flowing it.

MR. KEIZER:  Just one minute.  Why don't we take it away at the break and talk about what we can and can't provide?

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  As you are considering that, sir, then the second part of that question is the monthly and spot gas purchase; what was scheduled and nominated by Union in that period.

I’m breaking them up.  The first one should be easy; the second one might take a little more effort.  But it is a matter of record, Mr. Shorts, that Union brought in additional gas in January 2014.  Was it brought in at Ojibway?  Was it brought in at other points?

We would like what was received at Ojibway under Union Gas spot or monthly purchases for those periods of the winters of 2013-14 through 2015-16.

MR. SHORTS:  My memory is not a hundred percent, but I don't recall us ever buying incremental spot gas coming through at Ojibway in any of those periods.  But we will verify that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be JT1.11.


UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  (A) TO ADVISE WHAT IS FLOWING AT OJIBWAY AND WHO IS FLOWING IT; (B) TO PROVIDE THE MONTHLY AND SPOT GAS PURCHASE; WHAT WAS SCHEDULED AND NOMINATED BY UNION IN THAT PERIOD


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Quinn, we will probably look to break at around eleven.  Do you have something that would take us there?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you for keeping me aware, Mr. Millar.  I will find an opportunity to break.

And if I may, as a procedural opportunity, Mr. Wolnik is on the phone and he has some questions which I haven't got to in my list of questions yet, but he has a commitment that he is only on the phone to around noon.  So when we come back after the break, if it is okay with Union, Mr. Wolnik will precede me, and then I will continue from there.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you, everybody.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So we are going to turn now to – I’m just double-checking my records here.

So C-1 contract capacity, which is laid out in FRPO 4?

MR. SHORTS:  We have it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So FRPO 4 shows C-1 contracts in place or executed during the 2013 to 2016 period.  Would you accept, subject to check, between November 1st, 2011, and January 31st, 2015, you have a total of 87.7 tJs per day of C-1 contracts during the winter months, and 67.7 during the summer months?

MR. SHORTS:  I will accept your math, subject to check.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If it is helpful, Mr. Shorts, this goes to question 7 in the questions we submitted last Friday in KT1.2.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  We're just looking for complete verification of those C-1 contracts, and then making sure our math is correct in terms of the total firm receipt capacity at Ojibway, if you could do that by way of undertaking?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  Subject to check, I mean the contracts you have are the same ones we answered.  So assuming your math is correct, that should be correct.

MR. QUINN:  But I want the -- the rest of that answer is adding the 60 tJs that we just spoke of in FRPO 3(b), ensuring that we have the correct total receipt capacity at Ojibway in that period as 147.7, and 127.7 in the summer.

Can you undertake to just verify that math and that we are understanding your answers sufficiently?

MR. SHORTS:  The only clarity I need to provide for you is that you had -- in there, you mentioned that there were four contracts on the Pebble and trunk line totalling sixty.  Prior to November 1 of 2012, it was only 47.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if we take it past November 1 of '12, so '12 and beyond, the 147 is the total receipt capacity?  If you want to take this as an undertaking, sir, I understand.  That is why we submitted it ahead of time, just to make sure we're understanding your answers.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  I did not do the math, so I would have to verify that your math was correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would we be able to take an undertaking number for that, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT.12:  TO CONFIRM THE CALCULATIONS IN FRPO 3B, QUESTION 7 OF EXHIBIT CT1.2


MR. QUINN:  And that refers to question 7 in KT1.2.

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, I do need to clarify something in that question.

So you had -- the one thing you need to note is that the 115 and the 140 are the current limitations.  They were not the limitations that were in place during '12 through 2015.

MR. QUINN:  Well, this is the opportunity in the undertaking, Mr. Shorts, to the extent that there are different conditions today than there were during that period, please specify what limits it to 140 versus the 147.  That would be extremely helpful.

MR. SHORTS:  I can tell you what the major driver is, if that is helpful.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I would prefer to have it in an undertaking so that we can actually see the numbers and what constraints are created.

I hope and appreciate that it may not take any more than just math, but we want to know why there was 147 in that period as receipt capacity and you're saying 140 today.  So if you have a differentiating feature that you can put in the undertaking, we would appreciate that.

I am sensitive to time, sir.  There is a bunch of people behind me, and I was hoping we could move through this.

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, I just -- my only concern here is that we're going to answer some things, undertakings, and I guess the witness has some information which he can give now.  And to the extent you had a follow-up question you could ask it in regard to what he would say.

I just don't want to be faced with a situation where we provide undertakings, provide additional information as you've suggested, and then somehow now we're faced with further questions from you in terms of other interrogatories.

In my view, this is an opportunity for a technical conference for questions to be asked and those questions to be, you know, comprehensive, to the extent that they are not cross-examination.  So...

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  As you prefer, Mr. Keizer.  I welcome an answer at least for the constraint, Mr. Shorts.

MR. SHORTS:  So as Mr. Wallace mentioned, the expected load profile of the Windsor market from a minimum perspective in each of those seasons is also a deciding factor or a limiting factor.

And what we have seen is a dramatic decrease in the load profile of a couple of our large customers down in the Windsor area, and it has necessitated that reduction from about the 140 in the summer down to that 115, and the same -- about the same number in the winter change.  So...

MR. QUINN:  Well, we asked, and Mr. Wallace was going to provide us with summer day conditions and how you created those, but let's deal with one at a time.

If 127 became 115, can you provide where that reduction occurred relative to the design condition Mr. Wallace had presented previously?  And then similarly what the 147 down to 140 --


MR. SHORTS:  It was a reduction in the load profile for that customer.  So we had a customer who traditionally burnt a certain volume during the summertime, and that condition has changed, and that customer does not burn that volume now in the summertime.

MR. QUINN:  So this is just one customer has made this approximately 12, 13 tJ reduction in the summer and 8 in the winter?

MR. SHORTS:  I believe it is predominantly one customer, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Well, would you check that as part of the -- when you're doing the calculations and verifying the math?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And one more follow-up question -- thank you, Mr. Keizer, for allowing this, because, Mr. Wallace, to the extent that these customers -- this customer as an example has reduced its volume, would it be fair to say that that provides opportunity for the market to grow and those numbers to go back up to those -- to those levels of 128 and 148?  If you have got a customer that's reducing their volume, you have identified in your evidence that other customers are trying to come on to the Windsor market, will that result in more firm capacity at Ojibway as a result?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  On a minimum basis, I don't think there is a lot of opportunity there.  So this customer didn't change its operandi of consumption, it just changed its minimum.

MR. QUINN:  It changed its minimum, sir, but to the extent that other customers came on who have minimums, would that not increase the receipt capacity -- if a customer decreasing its capability makes it go down, adding customers would make it go back up again.  Correct?

MR. WALLACE:  Correct.  I just don't believe there is anyone in our forecast that might cause that to happen.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, in your forecast, then -- and this is a follow-up question -- provide -- you have provided what the peak day requirements are for a number of Windsor market customers.  Please provide the minimum you would attribute to those customers.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WALLACE:  I don't believe I have a forecast that shows what the minimum is.  I have a forecast for what the design day requirements are, so o--

MR. QUINN:  And could you obtain that from some other staff?  I am not asking you, Mr. Wallace, to have that information, but those who identified these customers as creating winter constraint would know the load profile of these customers.  Could that be provided from somebody on Union Gas's staff?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WALLACE:  So, Mr. Quinn, again looking at the new customers, I don't believe minimum is something that shows up in there, you know, in their contracts as far as hourly or daily demands.

Typically we would look at a minimum, we would look at a history of a customer, and see how their behaviour is and what we could count on.  We don't have history on the growth side of this -- this equation.  So I am at a loss to come up with an increase to the minimum market for you.

MR. QUINN:  Would you do this on a best-efforts basis to provide whatever you have, because clearly -- and we don't have your answer on how you came up with your summer design conditions.  These contracts have to have some impact on that.  Would you agree?

MR. KEIZER:  They're not in the contract.  As he has indicated.  The customer doesn't sign up with a minimum.  He doesn't have the information.

MR. QUINN:  He doesn't have the information, sir, but there has to be a forecast.  You're going to come up with summer simulations for us for 2017 and 2021.  Specify how much of these new customers you are assuming as a minimum capacity, and if the answer is zero, we may have to accept the answer is zero, but I guess if that is the result, we will be asking for a comparable -- example, a hospital.  A hospital doesn't go down to zero, it still has to have hot water in the summer.  You must have some information based upon the experience of your staff to be able to estimate for the purposes of your simulation.

MR. KEIZER:  We're not -- it's -- one, they're new customers.  They don't have the historical basis that you have.  And if you want to develop a proxy for a hospital, then I think that is between you and your expert to do so.   And we're not providing it to you.

The other question I have --


MR. QUINN:  The information we don't have, sir, is in Union's system what -- using hospitals as a category, and there were different contracts, and I am going to look them up at the break, there were different customers being added, but I use the hospital as an example.

If Union is not going to provide any information because they don't have history, then provide us the history for your hospitals and what the summer design is for hospitals relative to what their peak needs is as a percentage, and we will do the math from there.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, we're not doing it.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, this is --


MR. KEIZER:  I told you -- look, the bottom line is we have refused the question.  I am not going to debate it here.  If you wish to debate it in another forum, we're more than happy to do so.  But we're not debating it here.  We have refused the question.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Mr. Wallace --


MR. KEIZER:  I do particularly have a concern, though, in the fact that this is a technical conference, which is for clarification of the IRs that were asked and given.

What we seem to be entering into here is a supplementary round of interrogatories where every question you ask is an undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  This is information, sir, that only Union Gas has.  To the extent that we are asking these questions it is to understand -- assumptions are made.  Mr. Wallace is going to provide us how he came up with the summer design.

So to the extent we don't even have that information yet, it is hard for us to presume how this was done and what the impact of these new contracts might be.

So as a proxy, Union has data on hospitals as an example, which provides Union information about the percentage it assumes in its summer design versus a winter peak design.  And that information cannot be obtained from an expert, because they don't have Union's data.

MR. KEIZER:  We are going to provide you, as we said, the assumptions which we incorporated into the relevant interrogatory that provided that summer design.  That's what we've undertaken to do.

We're not going to go on a data exploration exercise to facilitate something which the witness has already said he doesn't have the information.

MR. QUINN:  He doesn't have the information, but he’s going to have to do a summer simulation for --


MR. KEIZER:  We refuse the question, and we are not going to answer the question.

MR MILLAR:  Okay, I am not sure it is helpful to carry on like this.

MR. QUINN:  I will ask one final thing, Mr. Millar, and then we can take a break.

In the previous undertaking -- I don't have it turned up, but you undertook summer simulations.

Mr. Wallace, please provide the assumption that you made on new contracts and their impact on your summer design conditions.

He needs to have that number, Mr. Keizer, to do a simulation.

MR. WALLACE:  That number is going to be very small.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just provide what you assumed.  That will be helpful, and we will contest it later if we need to.

MR. KEIZER:  To the extent it is relevant.  To the extent we actually have a number.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be JT1.13.  We will take our break now.  We will come back at twenty after 11, and we will start with Mr. Wolnik, I believe.

And I understand, Mr. Quinn and Union will -- I think are still planning to discuss what may turn into another undertaking.

So we will be back in sixteen minutes. 


--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:23 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Welcome back, everyone.  I think we will get started again.

Mr. Keizer had something to say following their discussions with Mr. Quinn on a possible undertaking or possibly not, and then Mr. Wolnik, are you on the phone?

MR. WOLNIK:  I am, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we will go to you next.

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, that's great.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Mr. Quinn had asked a question with respect to the nominated and scheduled flows with respect to Union at Ojibway, and to provide that, in addition to the breakdown of the actuals.

We still struggle to find the relevance of that, and Union has no intention to disclose that information, partly because it doesn't relate to what Union actually does and the issue in this proceeding, which is the ability to bring gas volumes across Ojibway, which seems to be the concern of Mr. Quinn.

It doesn't -- it is not related to it, it is not relevant to it, it doesn't dictate or determine the actual flow capacity which we have, and we have to work within the cap of the 60.

So we are not going to provide the information.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I won't repeat some of my previous --


MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, I think we have -- we just have a disagreement on what is relevant and what isn't.

MR. QUINN:  We will go back to it, but there was something Mr. Shorts said he could do, and that was to check to see if any of the spot or monthly purchases were scheduled through Ojibway.  That is factual, and that's something that I understood Mr. Shorts could do quickly.  He tried to do it off the top of his head, but I respect that you might have to double-check your records.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  I would have to check to see whether Union purchased and delivered any incremental spot gas during that period.

MR. QUINN:  At Ojibway?

MR. SHORTS:  At Ojibway.

MR. MILLAR:  So that is an undertaking?  Okay.  That is JT1.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  TO CHECK TO SEE IF ANY OF THE SPOT OR MONTHLY PURCHASES WERE SCHEDULED THROUGH OJIBWAY.

MR. MILLAR:  And just so everyone is clear, obviously this is a technical conference.  I am the emcee.  Obviously I can't make any rulings.

To the extent that people are dissatisfied with the responses they receive, a motion is an option or, to the extent there is an oral hearing, they can be dealt with in front of a Panel, but I don't think we can go any further with that today.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar, that is as far as I will take it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So Mr. Quinn is going to stand down for the moment.

Mr. Wolnik, can we go to you, please.
Questions by Mr. Wolnik:

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, thank you, good morning, panel.  John Wolnik.  I represent APPrO.  I think I know most of you, so "hi".

I did send in some questions in advance.  Hopefully you have those.  What I will do is I'll just kind of read through them, and hopefully we can get either responses for them, or in some cases it may be more efficient for you to update the information that is already on the record.

The first question really deals with APPrO 2(c) and IGUA 1.  Both these questions go to what the costs of alternative fuel is for customers that currently use interruptible gas and would have been interrupted during the last period of time.

And I thought it would be helpful for the Board if, in fact, in addition to saying what the alternate fuel cost would be, what the net alternate cost would be for fuel by taking out the cost of gas.

Would you update these two interrogatories to reflect the cost of gas that would have been incurred to produce the net cost of alternative fuel?

MS. CAILLE:  So in looking at APPrO 2(c), we've done a calculation based on the -- using the alternate fuel cost, if you look at the line that you've got that is the 12. -- I'm going to round -- $12.5 million of the alternate fuel cost.

If you take the average spot price of gas at $2.95, that would net-off $3.2 million, giving a net cost of 9.3 million.

MR. WOLNIK:  Sorry, what was the average spot cost again?

MS. CAILLE:  That is 2.95.

MR. WOLNIK:  2.95.  Okay, and that is per gJ?

MS. CAILLE:  That is per gJ, in the winter of '15/'16, the winter spot price.

Now, for clarity, we don't know what customers would actually buy and whether or not they would be in the spot market on the day or if they would buy in a strip or what their costs would be, but we took a proxy of a calculation, and in order to update the table used the average spot price for winter '15/'16.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Presumably your interruptions were at more of a peak rather than average, though, right?

MS. CAILLE:  The interruptions do happen on -- tend to happen on colder days through the winter, and the price does fluctuate.

So we took a calculation of the average, again, based on the comment I made just a moment ago, which is we'd have to make assumptions on what gas purchases individual customers would do and whether or not they would be in the spot market on a day purchase or whether they would purchase in a different fashion.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And did I understand you to say this was -- this 2.95 was for '15/'16?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Would you have that price for '14/'15, which was the period that the interrogatory was dealing with?

MS. CAILLE:  Let me check in my notes, but it is something we would be able to obtain.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  So would you prefer to do that by way of undertaking?  Is that easiest?

MS. CAILLE:  If you can give me a moment just to see if I can find it.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.

MR. WOLNIK:  I guess I was also going to ask for that same price for the IGUA 1, which -- they had asked for a four-year period.  So it would be helpful to see the history over time.  So if you could do it for both, that would be much appreciated.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, you're talking about the price that you are enquiring --


MR. WOLNIK:  Yeah, yeah, I'm just trying to get an understanding of what the real net costs of alternative fuels is.  So if we could get your estimate of what the spot price would be during those, I guess the four winters, which I think IGUA looks at, which includes the one winter that you responded to, the APPrO 2.

It would be helpful to see what the -- what the net alternate cost would be for all four winters.

MS. CAILLE:  We can provide those updated figures.

MR. WOLNIK:  Great, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That'll be JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  TO PROVIDE THE NET ALTERNATE COST FOR ALL FOUR WINTERS.

MR. WOLNIK:  The next question is APPrO 3(c).  We had sort of talked about or asked questions related to what if the new customers were to deliver volumes to Ojibway.  Would this alleviate or defer some of the new facilities?  And I think you discounted that, that option.

So I am wondering if there are any other costs that would be incurred if you did receive those volumes at Ojibway that you would incur?  I think Mr. Wallace might have mentioned some reinforcement costs that might be incurred if you were to receive more volumes at Ojibway.

MR. KEIZER:  Are you -- sorry, you're referring to APPrO 3(c), right?

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, correct.

MR. WALLACE:  So there could be additional costs incurred.  Again, incremental supply alone is not going to be enough to service these demands.  So in particular, if you look at a demand being in Leamington, it won't be one unit of supply coming at Ojibway to service one unit of demand.  So that is one issue.

And the other is that, depending on again the magnitude, we could have to build facilities to deal with the gas supply in the summertime as well, if it is coming in a DCQ basis annually.

MR. WOLNIK:  I understand that.  And I guess what I am trying to get a better handle on is sort of the effect of that.  So under the assumption that volumes did come in at Ojibway, could that defer these new facilities for a period of time?

Because I understand not the full 106 tJs is required in year one.  So if these volumes were to come in at Ojibway, could it defer these facilities?  And if so, what are the implications?  That is what I am trying to understand.

MR. WALLACE:  So it might be helpful to look at -- I believe it is FRPO 18.  Insofar as the incremental demands are in the Windsor market, then the supply can arrive on a one-for-one basis and service that demand.

Insofar as the demand is in the Leamington area, Leamington-Kingsville area, we would need greater amount of supply arriving at Ojibway to satisfy a unit of demand in that market.

MR. WOLNIK:  Is that because of variation in the peak hours to average hour?

MR. WALLACE:  There is a few factors, but it's essentially the only way we can service the demand in Leamington-Kingsville with Ojibway supply is through displacement.

So an incremental unit of supply coming in Ojibway is one less a unit of the Windsor market that has to flow through Sandwich, that unit of capacity per se on the upstream side of Sandwich does not translate into a full unit of capacity into the Leamington-Kingsville market.

MR. WOLNIK:  And if need be, can you turn on that compressor to facilitate more through-put into the Leamington market?

MR. WALLACE:  No.  So the compressor actually would probably cause us a lot more problems.  It will require -- it will require a lot more gas.  Actually, it will require a lot more gas on the suction side.  It would actually suck away from the Windsor market in an attempt to boost the pressure on the 20-inch.

So effectively, you would end up packing the 20-inch, but you ended up probably starving the market, the 3450 kPa market in Windsor.

MR. WOLNIK:  I thought that was the original intent of that compressor when it was installed, to actually move more volumes into that 20-inch.  I appreciate the conditions are different today, but ...

MR. WALLACE:  When the compressor is on, you know, it can boost the pressure on the outlet side, but it has to have flow that comes with it.

That flow can't come from the 16 Dawn around through Grand Marais; that is at capacity.  It would need to come in through Ojibway and again, we would be even more disproportionate in the amount of gas that would likely have to come in at Ojibway.  We would have to bring a lot of gas in at Ojibway to deal with that, to run in that sort of scenario.

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Wolnik, I think we answered in a number of spots that there isn't any capacity available.  We have gone to the market.  We've gone to the open seasons that Panhandle has, and we have attempted to get incremental firm capacity.  And we’ve tried to get incremental firm supply and whatever we had received, we bought.  But we were not provided anything in addition to that.

So not only the concern for us, but also for any customer that would want to deliver there is there is no firm upstream capacity that energy transfer is making available.

MR. WOLNIK:  I understand that.  There are other shippers on that system and, presumably, commercial arrangements could be made to acquire some of that secondary capacity.

I think it indicated there were two C-1 shippers, for instance, that delivered to Ojibway of which, I think -- if I understand, you have taken up some of that capacity.

MR. SHORTS:  There is actually only one shipper after April 30th of 2017.  And we have contract -- we have bought that supply at Ojibway from them.

MR. WOLNIK:  So I think you have also indicated that Rover has reserved that capacity.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that is to the best of our knowledge.

MR. WOLNIK:  So why couldn't these new customers do some sort of commercial arrangement with Rover to receive volumes at Ojibway and provide them to you?

MR. SHORTS:  Our understanding is that the Rover is not going to have Ojibway as a receipt point.

The predominant flow on the Rover will be through Vector, and they will not be offering a Ojibway receipt point, only a Dawn receipt point.

MR. WOLNIK:  I am confused then.  You have indicated that there is no capacity on Panhandle upstream of Ojibway because Rover has it all.  But now you just told me most of the capacity is on Vector, which is – I understand that.

But you have introduced the issue that no capacity is available on Panhandle because Rover has it.

So you can't have it both ways, I don't think.

MR. SHORTS:  No, what I said was Rover has contracted for the remaining capacity available on Panhandle to Ojibway.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.

R. SHORTS:  That will not be made available to their shippers.  They will then be offering a bundled service to get volumes to Dawn, and the shippers will not have control over where that volume gets delivered, whether it gets delivered through the Ojibway path or whether it is delivered through the Vector path.

That will be Rover's call as to how they choose to deliver the volumes into Dawn.

MR. WOLNIK:  How do you see that working then?  Under what conditions would they or could they deliver through Ojibway in the winter time?

MR. SHORTS:  It would be totally up to Rover to decide which path they were going to utilize, whether they were going to use their Vector path, or whether they were going to use their Panhandle eastern path.

MR. WOLNIK:  Has union had discussions with Rover on this issue, because presumably you're the connecting pipeline.  You would have to -- you would have to agree to move them downstream of Ojibway.

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we have had conversations with Energy Transfer, not specifically with the -- with Rover.

MR. WOLNIK:  So is Energy Transfer representing Rover in these discussions?

MR. SHORTS:  I’m not exactly sure how they've delineated the responsibilities, but when we speak to the Panhandle person -- and sometimes I will say Energy Transfer, but that's the parent company of Panhandle.

When I speak to the Panhandle representative and what we've also seen available in their FERC filing is that they are planning and have set aside the capacity on the Panhandle system to Ojibway.

But as far as we know, they are not going to make that available to end use shippers to decide which path their volumes would physically flow.

MR. WOLNIK:  So in the event that they flow to Ojibway, Union is the shipper, right?  Sorry, Union is the transporter; pardon me.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  If they flowed through Ojibway and into our system, then we would be the transporter if they wanted to move that gas from Ojibway to Dawn.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you have had discussions about that?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  They have not contracted for anything as of yet on our system, because I think they're still wondering -- they still have some regulatory hurdles they have to go through before they are -- before they are ready.

MR. WOLNIK:  Did you ask them if they could deliver on a firm basis to Ojibway?  Did you ask that --


MR. SHORTS:  We've not had those specific discussions on how they would be facilitating Rover volumes through that system.  As I said, they have not contracted yet for any C-1 on our system, although they have been enquiring about it.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, we’ll move on from there.  In APPRO 4 (a)(i) -- I will pull that up – we’d asked how much of this 106 tJs that you are building capacity for, how much of that is committed under long-term binding precedent agreements at this time?

MS. CAILLE:  None of the volumes are currently contracted under long-term binding precedent agreements.

We are currently out in the marketplace, speaking to customers and starting specifically with those who have been waiting for firm capacity that we've been unable to fulfil, and will begin putting contracts in place with the condition of receiving a leave-to-construct in building this Panhandle application, because we can't serve the volumes that are required unless we get approval for leave-to-construct.

But we are in the marketplace now, actively beginning to speak with customers to put those contracts in place.

MR. WOLNIK:  And what minimum volume would you expect to have under long-term contracts if you proceeded with construction?

MS. CAILLE:  On an individual customer basis, we don't have a minimum volume.

What we are requesting of customers that are of contract rate size is that they make a commitment for a five-year term, so that we can ensure that capacity is there on a longer term basis.

So the customers that we do contract with, we'll be requesting that they make a five-year commitment for the volumes that they sign up.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you.  I have one final question, and it is sort of related to Rover and it is not in evidence, and if you object to respond to it, we can deal with it another time.

But it seems to me that the Nexus pipeline crosses the Panhandle system that could have resulted in volumes --potentially Union contracting with Panhandle to get the volumes into Ojibway.

Did Union contemplate using the Nexus route, the Nexus-Panhandle route to bring volumes through Ojibway to potentially defer these facilities?

MR. SHORTS:  John, one of the -- sorry, Mr. Wolnik.  One of the things we did do was put out the RFP to the marketplace, seeking out any long-term supply and/or transport that could be delivered to Ojibway.

And that was sent out to a multitude of parties, Panhandle, Energy Transfer, et cetera, marketers, and we received one response to that, which was the one that we had stated the approximately 21,000 or 21 tJs that we were able to contract for.

So from that perspective, we were open to any alternatives, but none -- the marketplace provided none to us  other than the one that we actually contracted for for the period of November 1 of '16 right through to October 31 of '19.

MR. WOLNIK:  Yeah, no, I appreciate that.  My question was a little bit different.  Maybe let me perhaps just restate it.

This is kind of going back to the Nexus contracts.  I think you had entered into contracts with nexus for about 150 dekatherms a day of capacity.  And the route, as I recall, goes up Nexus and through St. Clair back into Dawn.

And my question is, given that Nexus crosses Panhandle, did you entertain or look at the potential to use a slightly different route to Dawn through Ojibway and Panhandle, rather than move all that 150 dekatherms a day through the St. Clair system?

MR. SHORTS:  As I mentioned, there is no capacity available on the Ojibway -- or on the panhandle system to Ojibway.  So, therefore, there was -- there is no available capacity for us to contract for on a firm basis.

MR. WOLNIK:  I guess, no, I am asking you to go back in time when you were entering into discussions with Nexus.  So this is Several years ago.  I appreciate there may not be anything today.  But if you were to go back in time several years ago, I think probably at least two or three years ago, when you were having discussions with Nexus, did you contemplate an option where Nexus could deliver to Panhandle and then Panhandle to Ojibway?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't believe that was an available alternative.  I am not even sure at that time and I'm not even 100 percent sure today whether or not they actually connect between the two pipelines and whether there is any flow capability between the two pipelines.

MR. WOLNIK:  So do I take it that you didn't contemplate it?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  It was not -- it was not an alternative.  We were contracting on Nexus to a path that would get us to either Dawn or to the middle of the river, and the Panhandle connection was not an alternative for us to investigate.

MR. WOLNIK:  Did you ask for it to be an alternative?

MR. SHORTS:  No, we did not.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thanks, folks, for --


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnik.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you for accommodating my time frame as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. WOLNIK:  I am going to stay on for another few minutes and then I am going to hang up.

MR. MILLAR:  Very good.

Mr. Quinn, we will go back to you now.
Continued Questions by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

I didn't want to interject into Mr. Wolnik's discussions so I might ask a follow-up question.  But clearly Mr. Wolnik was talking about the pipes of Nexus and Rover and where interconnections may be.

We provided Panhandle maps -- Panhandle map in our package last Friday.  Just to be clear, I may reference that drawing, and I don't know if it can be brought up by Mr. Gagner or somebody else, just so we orient our discussions as to what is happening in Michigan.

So with that as a -- you don't have it?  Okay.  Would you be able to --


MR. SHORTS:  We have hard copies here.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, if you have got hard copies then that'll be helpful.  Thank you.

It may be helpful for people to have it, but -- okay.

I will proceed, and if I get to a point where it doesn't make sense I will try to jump over and come back.

So these maps are from 2015.  Union didn't have any updates to those maps that it was going to provide?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  These are Panhandle eastern.  And -- Panhandle eastern and Rover maps, so we didn't provide anything different.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

So I want to turn to the issue of, first off, C-1 contracts and how they affect system capacity.  First off, C-1 contracts, while you do have some annual C-1 contracts as on the record, there are also C-1 agreements in place that would allow C-1 service available on a short-term basis, one day, one week, one month.  Is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  It would fall under the C-1 rate schedule, but it is not under a C-1 contract.  They're usually hub transactions, which are interruptible, or they could be enhanced for a day or a week.  They're not classified as C-1.  They're not C-1 contracts.

MR. QUINN:  What are they classified as?

MR. SHORTS:  They would be hub.  They'd be hub transactions, interruptible or discretionary hub transactions.  They're not under a C-1 contract.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you be able to provide -- let me get the terminology correct -- hub deliveries to the Windsor market over the last three winters?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I'm not sure the relevance of interruptible or hub deliveries.  We are talking about trying to serve a firm market with firm capacity that we can count on day in and day out for a longer period of time.

Whether a customer nominates an interruptible on their interruptible hub contract for a particular time period, it is not something that we can count on or guarantee or basically plan to use to serve a long-term customer load.

MR. QUINN:  In the mechanisms you currently have I would agree with that, but we are going to explore other type of mechanisms, and this goes to in terms of relevance the physical capability of the Panhandle to Ojibway to Dawn connection.  So it is relevant relative to physical capability, and so we would ask, again, if you could provide it for the last three winters

MR. SHORTS:  And again from a physical ability perspective, we have gone to the market and sought, anytime, any kind of firm supply or transport that anyone could provide to us for the period in question, and we received one reply for a three-year period and we received nothing else.  Nothing from energy transfer, Panhandle, the market.  Nothing.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I will ask you some questions about that later on.  Mr. Wolnik covered some of that.  But I am asking not about the forward.  I am asking about the historical.  These are data -- this is data that from the last three winters provide -- please provide the receipts for hub contracts at Ojibway.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  So you are asking for something over and above what you got in FRPO 20, is that...

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  That would be above.  But it is differentiated on the hub basis.

Mr. Shorts has been helpful in differentiating C-1 versus hub, but it goes to physical capability that Union has, in terms of transferring gas.

This is information that only Union can provide, and we're asking, respectfully, it is data that you have, and it is data that we would like to understand.

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, just, can I have a moment?

We're still not very clear as to what the basis or the understanding or foundation for the question is, but I guess in terms of for purposes of timing, we will see if we can find the data.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO PROVIDE THE RECEIPTS FOR HUB CONTRACTS AT OJIBWAY.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

Now, turning back to C-1 -- I appreciate your differentiation, Mr. Shorts -- you have one C-1 contract that has -- it's controlled by others in terms of their right of first refusal.  This is -- has been identified other places in evidence as the Emera contract.  Is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  The Emera contract has renewal rights.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I understood -- I thought I understood, and maybe I will clarify, this is the contract that Union will be getting the extra 21 tJs of capacity going forward?

MR. SHORTS:  We have purchased a gas supply from them on the Ojibway system that is supported by their firm Panhandle capacity.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  For what period of time have you contracted with them?

MR. SHORTS:  That was November 1 of 2016 to October 31st of 2019.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Okay.  And if I understood your answer to us, the right of first refusal was exchanged because it was a five-year commitment?

MR. SHORTS:  I suspect there were a number of factors that led to the renewal rights on that C-1 contract; certainly the five-year term was a key factor.

MR. QUINN:  Did Union have to provide any incentive to Emera to -- for that -- for Union to receive firm deliveries at Ojibway, was there any incentive exchanged with Emera to have those deliveries firmly obligated?

MR. SHORTS:  Are you referring to the supply contract we just signed with them?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  So we have entered into a supply contract with them to deliver us firm supply at Ojibway interconnect for the three years.  And for that, we paid a price.

MR. QUINN:  And what we're interested this is what was that price relative to a Dawn price?  Your other alternative being to purchase the gas at Dawn, what was the difference between the price you received and the Dawn price?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, due to the confidentiality related to the NAESB contract that we signed, that we have with Emera, I can't disclose the actual details to you.  But I can tell you it's roughly in the ballpark of what we have stated in the evidence for the difference in price of Panhandle deliveries versus Dawn deliveries.

MR. QUINN:  My recollection says 30 cents.  Is that what you are referring to?

MR. SHORTS:  In that ballpark.


MR. QUINN:  Can you file that agreement under the confidentiality requirements of the Board?


MR. KEIZER:  No, we're not filing the agreement.  I don't understand what it has to do with the construction of this pipeline.


MR. QUINN:  It provides a model for firm deliveries. Union has already undertaken with a third party firm deliveries at Ojibway.  This is an example of a model that --


MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, that is just one example.  I mean, that is not going to be any indication of what it's going to be for greater volume, which there isn't.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We will explore that in a moment, so I will loop back.

So if you want to turn up FRPO 7 (a), I don't think we have to go to the map just yet, but I appreciate maps were distributed.  Thank you.

So this goes to capacity that we've talked about.  And the first question is: the presidential permit limit is 210 tJs per day at the international crossing.


Can you tell me how that number is determined?

MR. WALLACE:  I don't have any idea.

MR. SHORTS:  That 210 would have been Panhandle's permit when they built the pipe back in 1947.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So what is the process to increase a presidential permit?  Do you have that information, or could you provide it by way of undertaking?

MR. SHORTS:  It's not our permit.  It is Panhandle's permit through the US federal government.


Again, that was based upon the facilities at the time and, like I said, I am not sure whether or not Panhandle would even entertain an increase to the presidential permit on the seven year old pipeline river crossing.


MR. QUINN:  Well, we don't know if they would.  But I am asking what is the process, if they --


MR. KEIZER:  We are not going to give you the process because it is not our pipeline.  We're not part of applying to FERC or whoever we would apply for purposes of doing so.  So we're not going to go and get a summary of the process for you.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I am going to back up to the maps then, if I may.  Just to orient us, we have two maps one is of the Panhandle system map and one is the Rover pipeline, with the Panhandle in what I would call a purple or violet colour on the Rover map.  Do you see that?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  We have it, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So there is an interconnection between Rover and Panhandle at that location, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.  At Defiance, there is a connection.


MR. QUINN:  At Defiance, thank you, that will help us orient.  So I will use Defiance.


So the Nexus pipeline – sorry, my mistake.  The Rover pipeline specifically is connecting at Defiance to the Panhandle system.

If we go to the Panhandle map, I just want to make sure we orient that connection as being downstream of Edgerton on the Panhandle system map, is that correct?  Defiance would be downstream of Edgerton?

MR. SHORTS:  When you say downstream, you mean south?

MR. QUINN:  No.  I mean north, thank you.  Between -- the connection of Defiance is between Edgerton and Ojibway, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Oh, yes, correct.  If I look at the Indiana border, I am oriented now, yes.


MR. QUINN:  So the presidential permit may have been established some years ago, and we will pursue what we need to in that area.

However, what we have is a new pipeline connecting into the existing pipeline.  Simply put, would you agree with me that that has the potential to increase the capacity between Defiance and Ojibway?

MR. SHORTS:  No, it does not.  There is no physical pipe that's being added on the Panhandle eastern system to increase the capacity of the Panhandle system to Ojibway.

MR. QUINN:  With that connection, though, you have higher pressure available.  In other words, Edgerton being the last compressor, the pressure drop between Edgerton and Ojibway would -- would be the physical capability of flow between Edgerton and Ojibway.  Does that -- would you agree with that statement?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know, Mr. Quinn.  All I know is that there is only a 16-inch line that feeds -- one 16-inch line that feeds the Ojibway interconnect of two 12-inch lines.

And I don't know about the pressure on the Panhandle system, but so far they have not -- from our knowledge, they have not proceeded to make any application to change their presidential permit to increase that.  They have not approached us to increase, or to say can we accept more volumes at Ojibway than the 210.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I am going to break this down a bit and maybe I can ask Mr. Wallace.


If you have a pipe connecting into an existing system bringing a gas at a higher pressure, and so it is not constrained by the outlet conditions at Edgerton, that pipeline would increase the physical capability of the pipe between its interconnection and its end point, in this case Ojibway, is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  That is an unfair question, because it is not Union's pipe.

MR. QUINN:  This is a simple pressure-drop question.  You’ve got a piece of pipe that is limited by -- I am going to go one step at a time.  The physical capability of the pipe between Edgerton and Ojibway is a fixed number based upon the resistance of the pipe.  Mr. Wallace?

MR. WALLACE:  I presume --


MR. KEIZER:  I still have a problem with it.  The bottom line is it is not Union's pipe.  We don't know what specifics or aspects.


What we he know, as the witnesses have said, is that there is a fixed capacity coming across at Ojibway based upon the presidential permit.  And as much as you wish and hope and pray that presidential permit hasn't been changed, and the evidence is that it is staying the same, because there's been no indication or any approach made with respect to enhancing it, expanding it, or reinforcing it.


So I am not sure why embarking on a physics exercise with respect to the pipe is relevant.

MR. QUINN:  It is relevant because it speaks to a condition that Union is using as fixed at one point in time when things are changing.  But I will move on.


MR. KEIZER:  It is fixed based upon the law.

MR. QUINN:  In 7(d), Union states the Rover pipeline will interconnect to Panhandle upstream at Ojibway at Defiance in Ohio and other receipt points.


Now, it also says Union understands the capacity on the Panhandle system through Ojibway has been reserved for the Rover pipeline.


We have discussed that earlier, and you discussed some of that with Mr. Wolnik.


Stopping there, the Rover pipeline on the Rover pipeline map continues past Defiance, and it connects with the Vector pipeline at Willow Run, is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That is what the map shows.

MR. QUINN:  That's what the map shows, but that is your understanding of how that's the end point of the Rover pipeline and Vector?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, no.  The Rover pipeline being a service provider goes all the way to Dawn.  So people contract for Rover capacity to Dawn and they are using some existing capacity on Vector that they have contracted for to move that, the last -- from Michigan to Dawn.

The 42-inch red line that is on there is the last of the, what we will call the greenfield pipe that Rover is installing.

MR. QUINN:  So said differently, the physical pipe installed ends at Willow Run on the Vector system?  That's what you're saying?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not sure of the actual, what they call the connection, where it connects to Vector, but it definitely is -- it's definitely connecting to the vector system where it shows on the map.

MR. QUINN:  And in the Nexus proceeding -- when we were talking about the Nexus proceeding, there was discussion about both competing pipelines, Nexus and Rover.

And my understanding was, there is limitation of that piece of pipe from the interconnection point through to Dawn, such that all of the volume of Rover and all of the volume of Nexus cannot go through that point -- that piece of pipe into Dawn.  Do I have that right?

MR. SHORTS:  Are you referring to the contracts that both Rover and Nexus have contracted with Vector to move capacity?

MR. QUINN:  I am referring to the physical capacity of the line.  Not all of it -- if you took the total of the physical capacity on Rover that connects at, we will call it the interconnection point, and not Willow Run, and then you add to it the Nexus pipe that interconnects with that same Vector pipe, there -- as what was I believe evidenced in the Nexus proceeding is that Union cannot take all of that.  That pipe does not have the capacity to take the total volumes of both Nexus and Rover.

MR. SHORTS:  Both Nexus and Rover have contracted for a certain amount of capacity on Vector.  And in addition to that capacity for Nexus only, they have also, with us, contracted for that connection with DTE to bring the volume in.

So there is two pieces to that.  There's the Vector connection, as well as our Union volume that is coming on Nexus via the St. Clair connection.

MR. QUINN:  What we're speaking to is, there is, from our understanding from the Nexus proceeding, Union cannot take the physical capacity from both pipelines through Vector into Dawn.  As you just alluded to, they're going to drop some gas off to DTE and other places.

So in other words, there is a physical limitation, and I will bring out an evidentiary reference, and I will bring it back after lunch, but Union testified, Mr. Isherwood testified, to the fact that there was only so much gas that could be brought into Dawn through Vector.  Do you recall that conversation?

MR. KEIZER:  Can you bring us back -- first of all, I think you are embarking on cross-examination here.  So I think -- I don't know any interrogatory where you have actually asked this or any other interrogatory that relates directly to what you are embarking on in terms capacity of Vector.

So I think you are now in a stage of, if you had have asked it in a interrogatory you should have asked it a long time ago --


MR. QUINN:  We asked it in 7(d), sir.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, show me -- take me back to where you talk about the Vector --


MR. QUINN:  What I am trying to understand, and I'm trying to break this down so the Board can -- what the Board can understand is that there are two paths through to Dawn.  There is the Vector path, which I will bring out the reference after lunch, that is constrained, and there is the path that goes from Ojibway to Dawn.

MR. SHORTS:  But again, the Vector path has -- is irrelevant compared to what we're talking today.  We are talking about trying to serve the Ojibway to Dawn market, not the Vector connection through Sarnia into Dawn market.

So I fail to see the relevance of that.  You asked in that question the timing of those connections, the relative proximity to Ojibway, and any additional capacity.  And what we have answered is there is no additional capacity to Ojibway of the Rover connection to the Panhandle system.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I am going to just walk this through to hopefully move us along.

In that response, you said you understand that Panhandle wishes to utilize upstream capacity on its system to provide service to the Rover pipeline to Dawn in addition to the Vector path.  This is where the Vector path comes in, Mr. Keizer.

So I am trying to get, first off, what evidence did Union rely on to come to its understanding on the Panhandle system to Ojibway and what has been reserved for Rover?

MR. SHORTS:  Through two sources.  Their FERC filing in which they make mention that the Rover pipeline has signed a precedent agreement with Panhandle for deliveries to Ojibway, as well as some of our discussions that we have had, confidentially, between Energy Transfer/Panhandle and ourselves, that is our understanding of where the remaining capacity on the Ojibway connection is sitting.

MR. QUINN:  Has Rover signed a precedent agreement with Union for capacity from Ojibway to Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  Not as of yet, they have not.

MR. QUINN:  Do you have a letter of intent from Rover for that capacity?

MR. SHORTS:  We have had lots of discussions about, can they contract for capacity on our system.

MR. QUINN:  Do you have a letter of intent?

MR. SHORTS:  We do not have a letter of intent.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Could you file under the confidentiality requirements your communications between yourselves and either Rover or Energy Transfer on behalf of Rover?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. QUINN:  And why is that not relevant, sir?  I am assuming relevance.  Sorry, why can you not provide that?

MR. KEIZER:  Because he has already given the answer to the question, which is that the discussions are ensuing.  It is not related to the expansion of the Panhandle system that Union is trying to accomplish in this proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  I know that is what Union is trying to accomplish.  We're looking at alternatives.  Here is an alternative staring us in the face.

To the extent that Rover brings gas in through Ojibway for its customers, there is potential for increased firm deliveries that could be contracted for in some kind of an agreement with Rover.

Is the potential there, Mr. Shorts, to do something like that?

MR. SHORTS:  I would say today the potential is not there, because we put out a long-term RFP and nobody -- not Rover, not Energy Transfer -- replied saying they could provide us with any capacity or any kind of supply in -- on a firm basis at the Ojibway interconnect.

MR. QUINN:  And we have your answer on that, sir.  But I am asking in this case, specifically, Rover would not have to necessarily provide a response to that RFP because they're already in dialogue with how their service is going to get to Dawn.

So we are asking for Union to file its communications with Rover or Energy Transfers on the Ojibway to Dawn path.

MR. KEIZER:  I think you are confusing capacity and supply, and we are not going to provide it to you.  And I think that you're, in our view, embarking on cross-examination.  If you want to pursue this in the hearing, so be it.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, can I just interject about the issue about the Rover and the interconnect through Ojibway.

If you go to Energy Transfer's website, they -- it seems to me -- and I would ask maybe you could check during the break -- they interestingly highlight what looks to me like the Panhandle system on their map as sort of a delivery access point.

Do you know why they would do that, if they weren't thinking along the lines Mr. Quinn is suggesting?  Because --


MR. SHORTS:  Well, just to clarify, Rover is going to be using to a certain degree the Panhandle capacity to supplement what they have coming on their main or primary vector path.  So that would be why they would have shown that on the map, although, as I had mentioned, it is our understanding that they are not offering Ojibway as a delivery point under their Rover contract to any of their shippers, and that they will be using the capacity between the connection at Ojibway and their Vector piece to facilitate whatever volumes are potentially nominated on any given day that may come to Ontario.

MR. GARNER:  So is it delivered service?

MR. SHORTS:  It is a delivered service.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Shorts.

MR. QUINN:  And as a delivered service -- thank you, Mr. Garner -- as a delivered service, there would be a physical flow of gas on Union's Ojibway to Dawn pipeline, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  There could be a physical flow.  Again, we don't know whether or not we could rely on that, much like we have stated earlier.  The only C-1 contract -- the only C-1 contract that has firm deliveries upstream of Panhandle, being the Emera contract, we have basically already purchased that supply through that RFP process.

MR. QUINN:  We're speaking about the Rover contract.  So my understanding is, since we are not getting the communications, my understanding is you are still in negotiations, and could Union add an incentive to that contract to ensure firm obligated must-nominate deliveries at Ojibway?

MR. SHORTS:  I can't speculate as to what Rover may potentially agree to.  But what I can relate to is the continued concern I have about trying to serve end use customer franchise loads with commercial opportunities.

We had this discussion in Burlington-Oakville.  We’ve had this discussion related to the Parkway obligation.  we have had this discussion in relation to Sarnia.

We just do not feel that using a commercial alternative -- which again comes with all of the risks we have stated -- again, and you can see it through the issue we have been having trying to get capacity  You just can't guarantee that you are going to be able to get capacity for a significant length of time to be able to allow you to serve a firm load with the assurance that you would that the facilities would provide you.

MR. QUINN:  Yet you still rely on those firm deliveries at Parkway?

MR. SHORTS:  We rely on the 58 in our design right now, but that will drop to potentially 37 because we have no renewal rights.  In --


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, Mr. Shorts.  Yes, I see Mr. Wallace is helping you.  I said at Parkway.  you were relying on firm deliveries at Parkway for your winter design day.

Mr. Wallace, is that correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. SHORTS:  But we are in the process of reducing those by customer request.

MR. QUINN:  By customer request.  But it still is a service that has provided capacity at Parkway for decades,  correct?

MR. WALLACE:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  I am trying to get clarity on the record, Mr. Shorts, and I would appreciate if you could assist me.

I know we’ve covered a lot of ground, so Union is now in the process -- or sorry, is currently offering an incentive to customers to obligate their volumes at Parkway, is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  This is -- this is not the hearing.  This is supposed to clarify the technical conference for purposes of the interrogatories.  I don't know where Parkway is in this thing, but it sure isn't in these interrogatories.

So I have kind of given a lot of leeway to your questions.  You’ve have embarked on cross-examination throughout this.  You have used this process as a supplementary interrogatory process, not as the purpose of a technical conference.

In my view, in my submission, you are borderline abusing the process.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, I am --


MR. KEIZER:  If it is not said here, it may be said in your cost award that it is inappropriate, the activity you are carrying on.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, I was trying to understand Mr. Shorts' response.

MR. KEIZER:  If you can point to an interrogatory question, then we will address that question.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Shorts had said – I had asked if it could be done.  He was saying he didn't provide -- he provided a qualified answer.

I was trying to put it factually-based back to Parkway and the delivery incentive that’s currently in place.

So that ties it together, and that is what we are trying to understand.

MR. KEIZER:  No, it doesn't.  It doesn't tie it.  It simply is a follow up question to something that was irrelevant to begin with.

MR. QUINN:  I would probably be a lot quicker if I could ask my questions, so I will continue to do that.

MR. KEIZER:  It would be a lot quicker if you stick to something that is relevant.

MR. QUINN:  So the expected service date that has been provided for Rover is late 2017, about a year way away?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  When would you need to sign contracts with Rover, if they were to take C-1 capacity between Ojibway and Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  I would suspect they could sign that contract right up until October 31st, or whatever the day before they needed to flow.  I don't know their timeline.

MR. QUINN:  I am speaking from union's perspective, was you had said they would be taking some of the capacity that Union has from Ojibway to Dawn.

First off, what is the capacity that Union has to take gas, physically or by displacement, at Ojibway for Dawn delivered service?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHORTS:  I know we answered this in an interrogatory, but I can't recall and we're trying to do the math.  It would be the 115, minus the supply of the 58, minus the 21.  So it looks like it is 36, subject to check.

MR. QUINN:  Well, this is a winter design concern, is it not, your ability to flow the gas to Dawn in the winter?

MR. SHORTS:  No, it's the ability to flow the gas all year round.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So of that – the round number is 36; we’ll say round number 40.

Of the 40, is Rover speaking to taking all of that capacity?  In other words --


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  -- they’ve offered a firm service to their customers.  Okay, thank you.

So 40 -- 36 tJs through 40 tJs is what could be brought in, okay, thank you.

Now, I wanted to talk a bit about gas supply.  I think orienting back to the Panhandle system map would be helpful.

How long has Union been importing gas at Ojibway?

MR. SHORTS:  Subject to check, since 1947.

MR. QUINN:  So decades?

MR. SHORTS:  A long time.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Does Union buy the gas at Ojibway?

MR. SHORTS:  We traditional by buy the gas in the field zone, either through the Panhandle -- I'm sorry, did you say Parkway, or did you say Panhandle?

Okay, sorry, I might have heard something different there.

We traditionally will buy the capacity, we will contract for capacity on Panhandle to ship the gas.  But we will predominantly buy it either in the Panhandle field zone or the trunk line field zone, which trunk line comes up and connects to Panhandle and can bring the volume as we have one contract today.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  I think that the map here is helpful, in that -- would you agree with me that the trunk line is the gray line that extends up through into -- well, it extends north?  It interconnects at Tuscaloosa --



MR. SHORTS:  Tuscola.

MR. QUINN:  Tuscola, thank you.  But also then it goes further south, and you would be buying the gas in Oklahoma or Louisiana?

MR. SHORTS:  So for the Panhandle contracts, that is only Panhandle, we would be buying that in the Texas-Oklahoma field zone.  You can see that diagonal dotted line; the field zone is anything to the left of that.

So that is where we would be buying the capacity to fill a Panhandle transportation contract.

But we also have the ability to move our trunk line from the gulf up to that connection, and then on Panhandle into Ojibway, and I believe we've signified those contracts in an interrogatory.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  So the purchase of the gas is actually occurring in the field zone, not at Ojibway, is the sum of that?

MR. SHORTS:  Up until, as I mentioned, this recent Emera, the supply contract we contracted with another third party.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, okay, thank you.  I understand.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Quinn, if I could just – Mr.  Shorts, can you explain what you mean by field zone?

MR. SHORTS:  Field zone is a traditional term where there’s a segregation between what I would call the gas gathering versus the transportation.  So everything is sort of feeding in from the production area.

So the field zone is a common term for production area.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  So the gas -- with the exception of the recent contracting, the gas for decades has been bought in the field zones?

MR. SHORTS:  In either of the Panhandle field zone, or in the trunk line gulf field zone.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And these are the four contracts -- you don't need to turn them up – in FRPO 3 (b)?  I think that is the reference you were looking for, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  Thank you, that is the one.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, are these FT or EFT contracts?

MR. SHORTS:  I am not sure whether they are EFT or FT.  They are firm transportation contracts.  I would have to double-check to see exactly what they are.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just for the record, EF is an enhanced firm transportation, is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  I believe that's the terminology.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  so what is the difference between those two contracts?  What is the benefit of the enhanced firm transportation?

MR. SHORTS:  I would have to check that; I don't know.  I am not the -- I am not doing that role anymore, so I would have to check back with the transportation people to find out what the difference is.

MR. QUINN:  Would you do so by undertaking?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I am not sure that it is going to provide anything, other than the fact that from a firm transportation perspective, what we have contracted for is capacity on both those systems.  They are firm for the period in which we have contracted them for.

You can see the top two contracts, the Panhandle field zone contracts, do have renewal rights, or Rover rights, I should say, but the other field zone contract, as well as the Panhandle trunk line, are negotiated contracts of a set term that were at a discount and did not come with renewal rights.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And that is helpful to understand, but I was looking for an understanding of EFT.  Is that something you can undertake to provide?

MR. KEIZER:  They're firm.  That's...

MR. QUINN:  Pardon?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't understand what the difference or relevance is whether it is enhanced firm or firm or...

MR. QUINN:  I was hoping to have understanding for the purpose of the next question, because we want to ask, is there additional capacity available for the period of November 1st, 2016 to October 31st, 2017?  One year.

MR. SHORTS:  We went to the market and we did not receive anything that we were able to contract for.  And from a renewal perspective, we were not given the renewal rights on even the capacity that we had that didn't have renewal rights, so --


MR. QUINN:  And in Staff 3 you indicated your five-year bid was rejected.  But did you seek any shorter-term arrangements?  One year -- for example, bidding for one year capacity?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we satisfied our one-year need with the 21 contract that we did buy.  So the one-year need that we were requiring, we satisfied with that 21 that we purchased as a supply at Ojibway.

So we do not have an issue up until November 1 of 2017 because of that.

MR. QUINN:  Well, some parties represented here might beg to differ.  Union has stated in its evidence that by putting -- bringing in additional Ojibway capacity when it is available you have been able to limit the interruptions.

And we are trying to understand, is, why wouldn't you go back and seek whatever is available for -- on a one-year basis that would provide you the opportunity to reduce interruptions this winter?

MR. SHORTS:  I fail, again, to see how buying incremental gas supply and charging that to the sales service customers so that an interruptible customer can continue to burn would be a proper way to evaluate that.

MR. QUINN:  Maybe you can't see it, sir, but it is a potential bridging solution to whether it be a pipe or other economic solution.

And we're asking, why would Union not seek additional capacity which could assist these customers?

MR. KEIZER:  He just gave an answer to that, that it is not an appropriate proposition to be able to prop up interruptible gas with firm supply that you would charge the sales customers.

MR. QUINN:  Well, okay.  I will take a step back.

The Parkway delivery incentive is not burdening system gas customers, correct?

MR. KEIZER:  He has given his answer to your question.

MR. QUINN:  No, this is a different context.  What you're saying is, the assumption in your -- his answer is that it is not appropriate to burden system gas customers.  The Parkway delivery incentive is actually an avoided facilities cost.  Can we start there?  Is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  If you want to raise that, you can raise it in argument.  But he has answered your question.

MR. QUINN:  But -- okay.  You are limiting our ability to have some discovery, which would be very helpful for us to be able to understand the art of the possible on an incorrect premise when your premise is it is going to burden system gas customers, and that is not what I am asking.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, we are not here to explore the art of the possible.  We are here to answer questions in respect of our evidence.  And you asked the question about our evidence.  Why didn't we go out for something shorter than five years?  And he answered the question.  If you want to explore the art of the possible, you have opportunities to do that.

MR. SHORTS:  And just to clarify, when we -- if you look at the RFP we put out for supply, we did not stipulate term.  We just said long-term.  Some people think long-term is a year.  Some think it is two or three.

We got no responses.  Even if marketers, pipeline suppliers who got the -- who received the RFP, some of them actually called us and would ask the question:  What's long-term?  And we said, whatever you can get us on a firm basis, at least a year, for those that called.

So all I'm saying is, we didn't have -- I believe we only had one other party even make a phone call in regards to enquiring about how this capacity could be filled.

MR. QUINN:  So is there one-year capacity on the Panhandle system?

If you need to undertake looking at their website, I understand, but I am asking a specific question.

MR. SHORTS:  I'd have to check.  I can't go by memory as to what is available or what's not available on a one-year basis.  But again, we're not focusing on or discussing here service of loads between November 1 of '16 and October 31 of '17.  We're talking about our need for November 1 of '17 going forward and how this project can facilitate that need.

MR. QUINN:  And we're looking for economic solutions for customers, so if you are not -- can you at least provide, on the record, is there existing Panhandle capacity to Ojibway?  For the one-year period?

MR. KEIZER:  It has nothing to do with this application.  I just don't see how it is relevant.

MR. QUINN:  I will move on.

So if you could turn up FRPO 17.

Mr. Millar, while they're doing that, did you have a time in mind for the break for lunch?

MR. MILLAR:  About quarter to 1:00.

MR. QUINN:  Quarter to 1:00.  Okay.  I am going to carry through that.  What I will do during the lunch hour is I'll talk to my friend from IGUA.  I have some questions on IGUA's undertakings -- or, sorry, interrogatory responses, and between the two of us hopefully we can narrow down some time.

So in FRPO 17, the -- again, the small print says there's transportation tolls, tolls in effect on alternate routes at the same time -- sorry, at the time of Union's analysis.  Stopping there, can you, please, provide the specific alternative routes impacted, the specific toll change, including the date of that change and a source of reference for that toll change?

MR. SHORTS:  Honestly, I don't know what you are asking, because what that transportation toll means is the toll on the transportation path that was the alternative shown.

So for example, if it was Alliance it would be the current toll in place.  If it was the trunk line contract that we have, it would be the current toll that we had negotiated and was part of that contract.

If it was TransCanada as an alternative, it would be long-haul.  I don't know -- it would be the toll that was in place at the time that the analysis was done, and each of those times were provided, January of 2015, March of 2015, and I just notice that that May 2015 is incorrect.  That should say May 2016.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.  And -- in terms of the date.  But we're trying to understand the difference in pricing from one submission to another, one of which is only separated by two months.

Now it helps to understand there is a year's difference, but we want to get the specific underlying data that was used to determine the differences in landed price.

You have given some examples of what it could be.  We're asking specific to that undertaking --


MR. SHORTS:  Well, I believe the -- I believe those available -- the ones you quoted from EB-2016-118, those were provided.  I believe that is -- and correct me if I'm wrong -- is that the deferral application?  Submission?

MR. QUINN:  Those are the deferral applications, and I think that might be an error, because it might be January 2000 -- well, maybe -- I don't want to presume.

The specific dates, Mr. Shorts, and to the extent the dates have to be changed, that would be helpful, but what we're getting is tolls in effect on alternate routes at the time of analysis.

We would like more understanding of what that means and how the change in landed cost was developed.

MR. SHORTS:  So there is two things that are done in the landed cost analysis.

MR. QUINN:  I would actually ask for the -- specify the alternate routes impacted, the toll change, including the date of the change and the source of the reference.  I understand you wouldn't have all that in your head, Mr. Shorts.  That is why we advanced it to you last Friday.

So if we could do that as an undertaking.  All it is, is additional detail to supplement what was asked for in the IR, because the IR doesn't really tell us anything, except there were some assumptions made.  We want to know what those assumptions are.

MR. SHORTS:  Well, can we go to, for example, VECC 7 as an interrogatory response from a landed cost perspective?  Because I think you are focusing on the final column, right?  Or correct?  The final row?  Being the May 2016 analysis that shows and supports the 30 cents differential.  That is the question, correct?

MR. QUINN:  It is the evolution over time.

MR. SHORTS:  Well, again --


MR. KEIZER:  Just so I understand, Mr. Quinn, are you asking for the column in FRPO 17 that says “tolls in effect on alternative routes at the time of Union's analysis”?  You want to understand what those tolls were?

MR. QUINN:  What the tolls were and what date they changed, because obviously there's been an evolution and we're trying to understand how that was calculated.

MR. KEIZER:  And the tolls may not have changed.  It just means -- but you want to understand that column?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  So I think what we're trying to say is you're asking for an undertaking to clarify the calculation that related to the column identified as transportation tolls, the tables set out in FRPO 17?

MR. QUINN:  Including the specific toll change and the date – the date of change and source reference for the toll change.

MR. KEIZER:  If there were any.

MR. QUINN:  If there were any, yes, correct.

MR. SHORTS:  I suspect there were very few toll changes.  The predominant change, as I was alluding to earlier, is the commodity forecast; that is usually the fluctuating factor.

MR. KEIZER:  We will do the undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO CLARIFY THE CALCULATION THAT RELATED TO THE COLUMN IDENTIFIED AS TRANSPORTATION TOLLS, THE TABLES SET OUT IN FRPO 17

MR. QUINN:  If you would turn up FRPO 12?  Thank you.

So in FRPO 12, Union provided the demand growth for the Windsor area for 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2021.  Is there no growth assumed for 2020?

MS. CAILLE:  I can answer that request, and I think it is in response to your pre submitted questions, item F, question 10.

So the table you have provided, if you look at the fourth column where you put growth from table 5-1, it actually is missing line 2020, which would have had 10,000 of growth.

So the total in the column that you provided in your submission was 96,000.  That should have been 106.  So the table you submitted and asked to confirm if it is correct, it is actually not correct and would need to be revised.

In doing -- providing the growth in Windsor, those are four specific customers that we have mentioned.  There is other incremental growth across the Panhandle system that is identified in the 106,000 that is referenced in Exhibit A, tab 5, page 8 of the original evidence, table 5.1.

If you are looking to create the table that you have submitted in your letter, I think if you reference BOMA 4(d), we have provided a continuum of the growth by geographic area that matches the 106 total that was already provided in original evidence.

MR. QUINN:  So all of the growth in Windsor would be west of Sandwich, correct?

MS. CAILLE:  The growth in the Windsor area can be all over the place, because it includes general service growth.  not just contract rate growth.

And the growth we have identified in the forecast, in your table you are backing-out just Leamington.  There would be growth across the Panhandle system, so the Windsor area, Chatham-Kent, and other locations.

MR. QUINN:  But specific to the growth in the Windsor area, that would be west of Sandwich?

MS. CAILLE:  Not solely.

MR. QUINN:  Each of those four customers, potential customers, would be west of Sandwich, is that correct?  Or can you help me understand that?

MS. CAILLE:  As I stated earlier, those four customers are examples of customers and existing industrial.  The first one in your table provided, the 17,600, is a number of customers bundled together that are requesting incremental firm service.  It is not a particular customer,
and the growth on the system would be across all markets and rate classes, so it's...

MR. QUINN:  Maybe we can do it this way.  We have tried to be helpful by pulling it from multiple sources.

Can you correct the table, and put in what is west of Sandwich versus east of Sandwich?

MS. CAILLE:  As I have mentioned previously, I think the breakdown that we can provide is already in evidence under BOMA -- sorry, I said 4(d) earlier, but I believe it is 3(d).  I will correct that; it is BOMA 3 (d).

MR. QUINN:  And you have a row called Windsor.

MS. CAILLE:  There is a row called Windsor.  There is the lakeshore --


MR. QUINN:  Can you break that down between east and west of Sandwich?  It is important to understand where the growth is occurring and how it could be met, given some of the limitations we have talked about earlier.

MR. KEIZER:   I don't know if it is actually possible to break it down as to the location of Sandwich.

MR. QUINN:  Sandwich is -- well, south-east of the core Windsor, correct?  We're just trying to be able to have the data to be able to analyze --


MR. KEIZER:  I know.  I think what the witness is saying is you won't be able to capture all of the growth because some of the growth relates to, you know, general system growth and incremental growth.

It doesn't always relate to specific industrial customers that you can identify an address for.

MR. QUINN:  On a best efforts basis, the witnesses earlier said there were discussions with customers.  They would know where they reside.  That should allow for an allocation upstream and downstream of Sandwich.

MR. KEIZER:  Not based on all of the growth, because some of it is not based on --


MR. QUINN:  So break out the ones you know, and for the rest of it do a pro rata share.  That is why I'm saying best efforts.

We're just trying to have the information which we tried to differentiate that way in our -- what we advanced to them, advanced to Union on Friday.

So you have already pointed me now to something that may be helpful, more helpful than what we produced.  We're trying to differentiate east and west of Sandwich and the one that I see that could be problematic to try to do that -- I am assuming Leamington-Kingsville is east of Sandwich, Windsor can be allocated in some simple fashion based upon the forecasts that were used to generate that table.

MR. KEIZER:  Just give me a moment.

I think what we – I guess what we could try to do -- I mean, to the extent that we know of a customer and that we would be able to identify where that is.  But to the extent that it is overall system growth within the Windsor area, and we don't know necessarily specifically geographically where that growth will be coming from, then we're not going to speculate as to what the allocation is east or west.

MR. QUINN:  we will accept that --


MR. MILLAR:  JT1.17.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.17:  TO SPECIFY THE EXPECTED SYSTEM GROWTH IN THE WINDSOR AREA


MR. QUINN:  Now, I am going to get this question in and, Mr. Millar, hopefully we can break and huddle with IGUA at the lunch break.

In our submission of questions, KT1.2, we had advanced some questions regarding the transmission and gate station design requirements, and this refers to FRPO 8.

We are trying to understand what changes have been to the system, and what the capability of the respective stations are to flow gas.

So does Union have concerns about populating that table with that factual information?

MR. KEIZER:   Just give me a moment.  I guess the problem we have had with this question is we're not quite sure, one, what the -- what Leamington and the previous case with respect to the design enhancements and the Leamington line reinforcements has to do with this case and necessarily why it is relevant to look at the pre- and post-analysis with respect to what is there.

So I guess we have struggled with why and how this fits within the context of this case with respect to the Panhandle reinforcement.

MR. QUINN:  We have asked for some scenarios/ simulations to be done to understand the pressure that is available under different scenarios, knowing the capability of those stations to deliver that gas ultimately to the distribution system where it is needed.

You need this type of information to be able to say, does this help solve the problem?  Or are there constraints that are designed into those existing stations as they currently are, but Union has been contemplating and has been trying to get gas to Leamington for a number of years.

So we are trying to look at the design steps that were undertaken and what may be remaining in terms of ability to feed these customers.

And this, again, is factual information, some of which can be taken off the front page of the last as-built drawing.  That is all we're looking for.  And we would then be able to do some of the calculations to some degree ourselves, but we are asking for Union, in (b), when using the forecast to flow for the next five years, what is the minimum mainline pressure required to provide the forecasted flow with maximum outlet pressure.

And that is something that we cannot do.  We have to have that information, and we need Union to run the simulation.  So that is pertinent to getting customers' gas in the most effective manner.

MR. KEIZER:  Just a minute.

[Mr. Keizer consults with Mr. Kitchen and Ms. Hockin]

MR. KEIZER:  So what we are -- just trying to understand exactly what we are able to do.  So we can obviously give you information with respect to the current.  It is not clear necessarily as to what we have related to the prior.  So we will see what we have with respect to that.

MR. QUINN:  For the prior, you would have what was on the previous as-built drawing that, again, would be facts that would be easily obtained.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, as I said, we will go back and see what we have available on the prior.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So just to be clear for the record, 11 and 12 will be answered as well as possible focusing on the current and seeing what you have for the past.  Do I have that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  That's JT1.18.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.18:  TO ANSWER 11 AND 12 AS WELL AS POSSIBLE FOCUSING ON THE CURRENT AND SEEING WHAT YOU HAVE FOR THE PAST.

MR. MILLAR:  Is this a suitable spot for a break, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, it is, Mr. Millar.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  All right.  We will come back at quarter to 2:00.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:48 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:47 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Welcome back, everyone.  We will continue with the technical conference and back to you, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Good afternoon, panel.

I am going to explore some answers you provided to IGUA, starting at IGUA 3.

Now, my understanding is IGUA was asking for Union to provide a scenario with 100 tJs arriving at Ojibway in this answer.  Is that your understanding?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't see that in IGUA 3, Mr. Quinn.  Sorry.

MR. QUINN:  Well, let's just jump to the question.  Can you run a simulation using 100 for a winter design day?  This just gives us a range of your current -- what you have in place and what we had asked in simulations this morning. I thought that IGUA's question was trying to look at the feasibility here and I think a simulation would assist.

They ask some questions about --


MR. SHORTS:  This scenario is essentially the same one as the one as the one we had provided in the evidence, which is the additional facilities with additional supplies at Ojibway.

MR. QUINN:  And with the additional supplies, your answer was -- if you scroll down a little further -- the project size would then be consistent with what was described in the new pipeline with incremental deliveries alternative.  Can you provide the simulation results that show that?

MR. WALLACE:  We proposed a set of facilities in concert with that alternative.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  But that wouldn’t mean that with 100 tJs, you still need new facilities.  All we're saying is show us the simulation that gives us that information that you cannot just rely on those deliveries, that you need to have incremental deliveries and where the constraint is.

MR. WALLACE:  So you would like us to show you a schematic that matches that situation as well?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  I thought you would have to do that for this scenario, but...

MR. WALLACE:  That's fine.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.18.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I'm sorry, had 18 already been given?

MR. MILLAR:  I’m sorry, it is 19. 


UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.19:  TO show the simulation that gives THE SPECIFIED information

MR. QUINN:  If we could turn up IGUA 9, please?  In the response down at the bottom of the page -- yes, thank you -- Union explored serving the entire 106 of the market. This alternative would require 195 tJs of upstream renewable capacity to Ojibway.

Stopping there, Union did consider excess supply and you go on to say on the next page that there would be a risk of decontracting more economic supply right at the top of the page.

Did Union consider how, in this scenario, the incremental cost for the higher-priced supply would be recovered?

MR. SHORTS:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Would you consider any premium above the Foregone, or the supply that was more economic, any premium could be treated as a transportation cost in lieu of avoided facilities?

MR. WALLACE:  I am not certain I agree with the premise that we're avoiding facilities.  We may be avoiding facilities in the winter time, but we certainly would require significant facilities in order to get this volume of gas back to Dawn in the summertime.

MR. QUINN:  And that may or may not be, Mr. Wallace, you know, a second compressor and those things we talked about this morning.  I don't want to roll us back to that.

But if that approach could be part of the solution, focussing on the premium over the more economic supplies, could Union treat that as a transportation cost as opposed to a system supply cost?

MR. TETREAULT:  Can you hear me okay?

I mean the hypothetical aside, Mr. Quinn, I think it is -- in theory, it is possible to do what you're suggesting, treat a commercial solution in lieu of a facility cost and allocate those costs the same way.

In principle, that is not much different than what's been done in the past, for example with a winter peaking service that has been in lieu of Dawn to Parkway facilities.

That said, I think you have Mr. Wallace's answer as to the feasibility of it.  But, you know, in theory, it is not unreasonable.

MR. QUINN:  So you gave the example of the winter peaking service, that you didn't say and I was trying to stay away from, but the Parkway delivery incentive.  Is that treated as avoided facility cost?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  The Parkway delivery commitment incentive is paid for by all customers, not just system supply customers.

MR. QUINN:  And so is the treatment comparable to a transportation cost?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it is similar.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, okay, thank you.  That is just what I was trying to understand, thank you.

So we asked for this morning, and we will be talking about more going forward, is Union's having dialogue with Rover.

As part of that dialogue, will Union determine what incentive Rover would require to obligate volumes at Ojibway for the winter period?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, those conversations have been with Energy Transfer, the Panhandle folks.  They haven't necessarily been, quote-unquote, with Rover.

I would say we will have discussions with them on what they would like to contract on our system continuing on, and we will have those types of conversations as the future unfolds.

But again, I don't know.  I can't put myself in their shoes and what they would want to do or not want to do.  I mean, they are going to take the most economic alternative they can.

MR. QUINN:  And they have offered, though, and I was speaking specifically of Rover has offered a service through to Dawn, some of which could be transported on the Ojibway line.  That is what we talked about this morning?

MR. SHORTS:  Possibly, some could.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, okay.  So would Union be willing to undertake those discussions as to what incentive they need in the winter prior to the hearing, and report back to the board as to the outcome of those discussions?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would it be feasible to provide a party, Rover or another party – well, I am going to stick with Rover -- with a free service that would allow gas to be obligated at Ojibway and, by displacement, be transferred to Dawn to meet winter market need?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, where is this?  Which interrogatory are you referring to?

MR. QUINN:  I am looking at alternatives, economic alternatives that are part of this application.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess the question is -- I'm not sure where it appears in the evidence, what alternative you are actually exploring, what part of the evidence you are trying to understand.

MR. QUINN:  The economic alternatives that were considered, and this is one of the alternatives.  The Board put out a procedural order saying we need clarification on the interrogatories and the evidence.

So in the realm of economic alternatives, we see this as one and we're asking Union would undertake to do that and inform the Board, such that we understand what is potentially available in terms of meeting market need in Windsor and ultimately for the Panhandle system.

MR. KEIZER:  Please, can you restate your question, again?

MR. QUINN:  As part of the dialogue that Union has ongoing with Rover, could it explore what incentive Union would require to obligate firm gas at Ojibway for the winter, and would you do that prior to the hearing and provide the results back to the Board?

MR. KEIZER:  We are not going to do that.  I don't think it is a fair technical question.  You are asking us to carry out negotiations based upon an exploratory question put forward by you in respect of an alternative that wasn't raised and within our context of our evidence.

So, no, we are not going to do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am not going to get into a debate.  We will ask the Board later.

Okay.  So if you would turn up IGUA 10(e).  I am just trying to make sure we have understanding of your response.  It is stating due to contracting changes there is 36 tJs per day available.  And you are referencing the LPMA response, the LPMA 11(a).

That 36 tJs -- and that is, I think, the math that Mr. Wallace did this morning -- that is potentially available to someone like Rover or another party to be able to provide gas to Ojibway?  Is that a correct interpretation?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, that 36 is available C-1 capacity from Ojibway to Dawn that would be available, given the current outlook.

MR. QUINN:  And if that gas were secured firm, under arrangements that are still to be made, would that reduce the risk of interruptions for the Leamington market?

MR. WALLACE:  I am not sure what the -- I guess notionally if that was arriving, we could use it to manage, whether we call it interruption or not.

Again, not sure what the purpose of that is and how that helps our application to service firm demands.

MR. QUINN:  Well, earlier in your evidence you had indicated that when additional capacity was available at Ojibway you used that to reduce interruptions.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So I am asking in terms of this 36 tJs that is currently available, that could be part of a solution to reduce interruptions this winter?

MR. WALLACE:  It could be available to reduce interruptions.  I don't know that we have a need to reduce something.  We have up to 40 days of interruptions allowed within these interruptible contracts.

It doesn't address the need for firm demand -- the need for capacity to service firm demands.  That is what I am not understanding.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So just going down a little bit further.  In 10(f), the first paragraph, it says:

"In addition 21 tJs of Ojibway Dawn C-1 capacity has been contracted and is not available."

Stopping there, what does that mean, in context of securing the 115 at Ojibway?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, that essentially means that we have now locked up, up to Ojibway, the capacity that we have, the 58, plus the 21, for the winter -- for the period November 1, '16 to October 31 of '17.

MR. QUINN:  So if you added 36 to that, you would have a total of almost 115; is that correct?  114.  There might be rounding errors?

MR. SHORTS:  Subject to check, sure, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thanks.  So once again, again, if that were secured, the 21 is available in terms of firm obligations to Ojibway, and the 36 would be on top of that?  I am just making sure I have the correct interpretation of that answer.

[Mr. Shorts and Mr. Wallace consult]

MR. SHORTS:  We still only have the 36, if that's your question, that's available.

MR. QUINN:  What I am trying to do is make sure I understand when you say "not available", you have got 57, plus 21, which is 78.  And then you have the 36 on top of that, in terms of availability?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, but that other 21, the party still has their C-1 capacity.  So they have chosen not to turn back that C-1 capacity.  So we don't have 21 of -- additional 21 of C-1 capacity, if that is what you are getting at.

MR. QUINN:  So they haven't turned it back.  Have you entered discussions to incent them to obligate it firm?

MR. SHORTS:  For what period?

MR. QUINN:  For the winter period.

MR. SHORTS:  We've already had the discussion in regards to, we have satisfied our firm requirements for the winter of -- for the winter starting November 1 of this year, through to next October 31.

We don't need any incremental capacity.  We don't need, for example, that company or that customer to obligate those deliveries for us to meet our firm obligations.

MR. QUINN:  Because you can interrupt customers instead?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we have interruptible customers on that path.

MR. QUINN:  And so that is why you don't need the 21?  That's part of your solution, is interruptions?

MR. WALLACE:  All of our evidence speaks to firm design-day demands.  Interruptions that have already been called in these scenarios that we presented, the 43.1 degree-day scenarios.

MR. QUINN:  So can I ask the question differently?  If you were to provide an incentive and -- would you not be able to offer as a price premium to the interruptible customers the cost of that additional incentive as part of your ability to meet some of their interruptible load?

In other words, if they take it at -- if they want to go to firm, the 21 tJs would come at a premium, and that would provide them one year of not having to be interrupted?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. QUINN:  To me that seems feasible, but I am just checking what I am missing.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just understand?  Are you talking about winter?

MR. QUINN:  I am talking about this winter, yes.

MR. KEIZER:  You're not talking about the general-service customers that may go unserviced if the pipeline doesn't happen after 2017?  You are just talking about --


MR. QUINN:  Well, we have some other ideas for the longer-term for that, Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  Right.  So this winter which we already have the solution for in your interrogatory or your interrogatories, you are asking now, even though that is not really part of this application.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. QUINN:  I am not saying it that way, sir.  You're framing it differently, and I am not going to get into debate.  We believe that that is a feasible solution, and we will take the hearing and provide our submissions at that time --


MR. KEIZER:  It is nothing to do with the leave to construct, what we did this winter.

MR. QUINN:  It tests an approach to a bridging solution which the Board might be interested in, given the uncertainty which Union has in its evidence about ongoing demand on the system, but we're at risk of getting into argument, so Mr. Millar, those are my questions, and I will turn it over to the next person.  Thank you very much for your indulgence.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, Mr. Quinn.

I think IGUA has the next most amount of questions, so we'll go to them.  But just before we do, is anyone on the phone?

Okay, we will try and get Mr. Aiken...

Do we have anyone on the phone?  We will see if we can track down Mr. Aiken, who I think did have some questions.  But we will turn it over to you first.
Questions by Ms. Van Soelen:

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Good afternoon, everyone.  The reference for my first question is IGUA 1(j) from the interrogatory responses.  It is a table setting out forecast firm and interruptible customer count and volume.  That's it on the screen there.

I see in the top line of numbers -- which in the column reading "customers total 2015-2016" is 186,751.  There seems to be an aggregation of residential greenhouse agricultural and other commercial customers.

Does that correspond with the M1 and M2 customer type shown on the page just before this, page 6?

MS. CAILLE:  I believe it does.  Subject to check, I believe it does.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And are all greenhouse customers included in this aggregated number that forms part of the 186,751?

MS. CAILLE:  No, they are not, because greenhouse customers can fit under multiple rate classes.  So some are M2, M4, M5, M7 and T1.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So where in this 1 J chart will we find greenhouse customers?  Obviously in that top line item we were just talking about, the 186,000.  What about in the additional line items shown there?

MS. CAILLE:  There would be customers as well in the line below labelled "small industrial".  But in the 114 would be contract rate customers, some of which in there would be greenhouse.

And in the interruptible column, the column beside, that shows customer counts of 63.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  So I see that the small industrial customers and volumes are forecast to increase substantially.  Is the bulk of that increase from greenhouse customers, or is it other small industrial customers?

MS. CAILLE:  There is a mixture, but a large component of it is customers from the greenhouse sector that have expressed an interest to move from interruptible to firm capacity.

We have provided some figures on that, based on the unfulfilled demand from the Leamington expression of interest that was held.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  Tying this back into the evidence now -- and this is from the evidence, not an interrogatory response -- the reference is Exhibit A, tab 5, page 19 and 20.

You probably don't even need to open it up, because it is a fairly straight-forward question that I am about to ask.  The evidence at this section indicates that the automotive sector requires natural gas, and it notes some of the uses within the automotive sector for natural gas.

Is Union predicting an increase in design day demand from the automotive sector?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CAILLE:  Any time we talk about design day, I always confer with my compatriot, Mr. Wallace.  We have had some interest from the automotive manufacturers within the Windsor area regarding increasing some of their capacity.

So I would say, yes, there is some interest in that sector.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And is that included in your forecast calculations as part of this application, that interest that's been expressed?

MS. CAILLE:  So we have put place holders in the forward looking forecast, both for some C and G facilities that the automotive sector is looking at and some CHP potential that they would be doing as well.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So if I go back then to the chart at 1(j) in the interrogatories -- sorry to jump back and forth -- is that increasing volume likely to show up in the large industrial line item, or would that be small industrial, or a combination of both?

MS. CAILLE:  I would have to verify which specific line item it's in, or if it's a combination of both.  I am unsure.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  If you could verify that, I would appreciate that as an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.20.


UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.20:  WITH REFERENCE TO THE CHART AT 1(J), TO CLARIFY WHETHER THE INCREASING VOLUME IS LIKELY TO SHOW UP IN THE LARGE INDUSTRIAL LINE ITEM, OR IN SMALL INDUSTRIAL, OR A COMBINATION


MS. VAN SOELEN:  Going back now to the evidence in the same section we were just at so Exhibit A, tab 5, but this time page 20, Union notes in this section of the evidence that the federal and provincial governments have announced plans to reduce emissions in the highway 401 to Windsor corridor by converting heavy and medium-duty trucks to compressed and liquefied natural gas.

Does Union have a sense of the timing when this is likely to occur?

MS. CAILLE:  We do not at this time.  The discussions with government are ongoing.  They did issue an RFP looking for compressed natural gas alternatives, but decisions are still pending.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Sticking with the evidence, Exhibit A, tab 5, page 4, this is something that has been touched on.  The evidence indicates that there are many existing interruptible customers, primarily greenhouse customers and power generating customers, who are looking to contract for firm services.

From line 2 on this page, we know that greenhouse growers have requested firm services from Union.  But are there actually any power generators who have indicated a desire to contract for firm services?

MS. CAILLE:  I am not aware of any incremental that's being asked from power generator customers at this time. But there are other customers beyond the greenhouse sector in industrial or commercial applications that have requested firm.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  What kinds of customers are those?

MS. CAILLE:  There's a mixture.  So some are from the automotive industry, some are manufacturing, some are hospitals.  So we have a cross-section of customers beyond greenhouse that are seeking firm capacity.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  In terms of the requests for firm capacity, do you have a sense of the breakdown between greenhouse and then all other kinds of customers?

MS. CAILLE:  As I mentioned earlier, we're in the process of going to customers, asking them to sign up for the firm commitment on a go-forward basis.

Earlier in evidence, we showed a large market need within the Leamington-Kingsville area.  That is a very good proxy to use for the amount of capacity being sought by greenhouse, but it wouldn't be an exact number.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Does Union have the exact number?

MS. CAILLE:  Of what the specific demands are from customers?

MS. VAN SOELEN:  From, I guess, greenhouses to date.

MS. CAILLE:  What we would have is the expressions of interest of the unfilled demand from the Leamington phase 2.  So we will be going to each of those customers and looking at what capacities they would want to contract for at this time.

We haven't had an indication from them that they are no longer interested.  They're still calling us and saying when is the pipeline going to be built?  We need firm capacity.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  All right.

I now want to understand table 1 J that we were looking at, but in the context of some of the comments made in today's opening statement about system demand.

The opening statement that we had today, and it is found elsewhere in the evidence, was that about 10 percent of the current design day system demand is serviced through Ojibway, and that was said to be 60 tJs per day.

Those figures suggest that the current design day system demand is 600 tJs per day.

Now, it could be that this is just a rounding thing, but I want to ask how that 600 tJs per day matches up with what is found at table 5-1 in Exhibit A, tab 5, page 8.  The number there is 565.  So that is why I say it could be a rounding --


MR. WALLACE:  In fact, it is rounding.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  It's rounding.

MR. WALLACE:  565 is our current capacity.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So 565 is the precise number?  Okay.

I guess to fully clarify then, table 5-1, those would be precise numbers that have been forecast then for each of the years?  Those aren't rounded numbers; they're all precise numbers for your total demand numbers?

MR. WALLACE:  That's right.  The 10 percent was just an approximation.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  Sticking with table 5-1, which we now have open, I see -- if you take a look at rate class M7, for example, T1 is another example, there is a jump that is forecast in demand for winter 2016-7 then a jump for winter 2017-18.

But then the demand plateaus after that.  What is the explanation for that?

MS. CAILLE:  So in looking at that, we're going based on customer enquiries that we have had that fit in those rate classes that we expect is forecasted demand.

Then on a go-forward basis, we have put it as a flatter growth, looking at -- not knowing whether or not there will be incremental in those particular rate classes, whereas the other ones we've got base forecasted growth happening in the subsequent years.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I see.  So the other ones from your statement would include M1, M2, M4?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Yes.

MS. CAILLE:  Sorry, I should have been clearer on that.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  No, that's okay.

MS. CAILLE:  I apologize.  But our general service, so homes and small businesses and regular rate growth, we would expect to continue on a forecasted basis.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Right, okay.

IGUA 3 in the IRRs is the next area I would like to explore.  I am looking, in particular, at interrogatory 3(b).  This pertains to the M16 transportation contract.

It is said here that the contract does not include firm service.  Has Union made any effort to explore with this customer whether firm service is a viable option; i.e., alternative commercial arrangements with this particular customer?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  I am not aware of any discussions that the customer has initiated in trying to firm up that M16 contract.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And Union hasn't gone out to the customer on that issue?

MR. SHORTS:  That, again, that is a service that provides gas from their storage pool to Dawn, and in the wintertime -- I am just trying to remember the direction we're going in here -- and in the wintertime from a point on the system to Dawn, so that would be storage that they would take out and move to Dawn out of their storage pool, so, no, we have not contemplated going to that customer in that -- under this contract.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  I would now like to go to IGUA 9 in the IRRs.  I want to follow up on IGUA 9(c).  At 9(c) we had asked if Union had explored propane aeration and then, if they hadn't, to explain why they had not done so.

I see from your response that it was not considered as an alternative.  The question is, why?  Is there something about it that is not viable as a solution?  I would be curious to hear Union's evidence on that.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if we have someone on the panel that is a position to answer about propane aeration.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  Well, perhaps you can take that as an undertaking to explore with whomever has the requisite expertise whether propane aeration is a viable alternative to meet the forecasted demand that is at issue in this application.

MR. KEIZER:  If I could just have a moment.

Yes, that's fine.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.21.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.21:  TO ADVISE WHETHER PROPANE AERATION IS A VIABLE ALTERNATIVE TO MEET THE FORECASTED DEMAND THAT IS AT ISSUE IN THIS APPLICATION.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And sticking with the response that was provided to IGUA 9(c), it was indicated there that CNG and LNG were considered as alternatives, and I just want to drill down on that a little bit.

We will start with LNG.  And for this discussion, it may be helpful to open up Staff 3, attachment 4.  It is said in the evidence that the cost of the LNG plant is estimated to be 48 million more on an NPV basis than the proposed pipeline.

I don't see in the evidence a breakdown of the proposed cost, but perhaps by reference to the table and the facility requirements indicated in this table for the LNG alternative we could explore that cost breakdown?

MR. HOCKIN:  There is no cost breakdown within the evidence, no.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So the question is, is the cost of the LNG alternative all attributable to the one facility requirement indicated, which is complete necessary upgrade for increased flow to Comber Transmission and Mersea Gate?

MR. HOCKIN:  No.  On the -- if we are on Staff 3(g) there is a figure of capital costs of $292 million there.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. HOCKIN:  That is the capital cost associated with the LNG facility as it was estimated at the time, plus some pipeline facilities that are additionally required because of the -- well, engineering-wise from Mr. Wallace's requirements.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  But do you have the information, today, to break down the cost of the facility installation versus the necessary upgrades, which would be the pipeline work you just referenced, I presume?

MR. HOCKIN:  I think we would have to take that as an undertaking.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  If you could undertake to answer that, I would appreciate that.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.22.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.22:  TO BREAK DOWN THE COST OF THE FACILITY INSTALLATION VERSUS THE NECESSARY UPGRADES.  ALSO TO ADVISE IF UNION HAS A BREAKDOWN FOR THE ATTRIBUTION OF THE COST TO ALL OF THE VARIOUS REQUIREMENTS THAT ARE INDICATED IN THE CHART.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Sticking with Staff 3, the chart that we're looking at.  For the incremental deliveries at Ojibway option, I have the same question.  Does Union have a breakdown for the attribution of the cost to all of these various requirements that are indicated in the chart?

Another way of stating that is, how much is attributable to the increase in the Ojibway import contracts versus the replacement of the existing Panhandle, so on and so forth?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. HOCKIN:  I think, because there are several numbers, we would prefer to do some of that by way of undertaking as well.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Will you provide that undertaking, then?

MR. HOCKIN:  For administrative purposes can we include that in the last undertaking number?

MS. VAN SOELEN:  That's fine with me.

I will be asking the same question with respect to compressed natural gas, although I don't think that features in the chart, so maybe we will deal with that as a separate undertaking.  And that is my next question.

The evidence indicates that the compressed natural gas alternative that you looked at was cost-prohibitive, but I didn't see a statement of what the actual cost was.

Could you tell me what the cost was?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. VAN SOELEN:  If it helps, I think the evidentiary reference is Exhibit A, tab 6, page 7.

MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.  We were looking at the phraseology of your word, says that it was "cost-prohibitive".  The words we used in evidence was that it is not practical.  It is not a viable alternative.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Sorry.  I am looking at line 8.  It says:

"This alternative is not only cost-prohibitive, but it creates a logistical concern."

So I gather there were two issues.  One is the cost issue, and the other is the logistical issue.  Is that a correct understanding?

MR. HOCKIN:  That is probably fair.  So let me give it in the high-level context.  It says that there is required about 513 truck loads a day.  A truck-trailer costs a half a million dollars.  So there's --


MS. VAN SOELEN:  Sorry, one truck-trailer?

MR. HOCKIN:  Correct.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Costs -- okay.

MR. HOCKIN:  So it is a significant capital cost, plus all of the logistical concerns, and that just puts it in the truck.  Then you need facilities at both the compression side of things as well as the discharge side of things, and so it was deemed not to be viable or reliable for this purpose.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I have many further questions on how you arrived at the assumption of 513 trucks, what the size of those trucks are, those kinds of things.  Perhaps the most efficient way of dealing with those questions would be to ask that you give, as an undertaking, the work-up that you have done to assess the cost of the CNG alternative, including any assumptions that go into that cost.

MR. HOCKIN:  We will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.23.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.23:  TO PROVIDE THE WORK-UP THAT WAS DONE TO ASSESS THE COST OF THE CNG ALTERNATIVE, INCLUDING ANY ASSUMPTIONS THAT GO INTO THAT COST.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay, IGUA 10 – apologies, actually there was one more item from IGUA 9 to follow-up on.

This is in relation to IGUA 9(b), and the very last paragraph of the answer discusses the incremental facilities required under this alternative, and it is indicated that a new NPS river crossing would be required.

What is the cost of that NPS20 river crossing?

MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, I am trying to go from memory here, but I can maybe give you a ballpark figure at this point in time just from memory.  I think we're looking in the 20 to 30 million range.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Maybe you could verify that?

MR. WALLACE:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SHORTS:  If I could just add to that, the one thing that is not included here and we have not been able to verify is what kind of facilities would be required on the Panhandle system as well to ensure that 195 could come firm.

So there is another facilities cost that we don't have in here that potentially would be applicable in that scenario as well.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.  With that, I think we can move on to IGUA 10, and I want to ask first about IGUA 10(a) and (b).

We had asked in this series of questions about the 94 tJs per day that were under discussion with PEPL, and we asked for the status of those negotiations.

In the evidence, it was indicated there was an offer from PEPL that expired on June 30th of 2016.  Has that offer been renewed or extended, or has it expired?

MR. SHORTS:  No, that offer expired.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And do I take it from your answer, where you say Union expects no further discussions ongoing on this incremental capacity, that your discussions with PEPL on this topic have come to conclusion?

MR. SHORTS:  We are always hopeful.  But so far, our experience has been that we have not been able to -- not been able to negotiate anything that would be acceptable from a term or pricing perspective on any kind of incremental capacity.

Because of the fact that they have set aside that capacity for Rover, we're essentially competing with an already-existing contract they have.  So they would have to go back to Rover and say, what would it take for you to not contract on our system.

So we would be potentially -- we are competing with a 20-year Rover commitment on the Panhandle system.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  My next question then pertains to IGUA 10(g).  IGUA had asked at this question about the incremental facilities costs that were associated with the option of increasing imports from Ojibway.

And the question we asked was whether incremental facilities were required to incorporate the incremental gas growth, or to provide remaining capacity requirements.

And the answer was to provide remaining capacity requirements.

My question is:  Can you explain what those capacity requirements are?

MR. WALLACE:  Sure.  So the scenario where we had an incremental -- I guess we're looking at 34 tJs a day of supply.  We're looking for a solution to provide 106 tJs a day of capacity to the market, 58 of which is in the first year.

So an incremental 36 doesn't provide us with sufficient capacity, so we required additional facilities to transport the remainder of the capacity from Dawn to the market.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And are those the facilities referred to – sorry, I have lost my reference here -- as Essex and McCormick, as I recall?

MR. WALLACE:  They are referred to at tab 6, page 11 of 15, Exhibit A, starting at line 12 through to 19.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Yes.  Installation of 16 kilometers of NPS 12 pipeline into the town of Kingsville, and installation of 12 kilometres of NPS 6 pipeline looping upstream of McCormick.

These incremental facilities, are they required to service the projected demand in 2017-18, or is it demand that you expect to come online after that?

MR. WALLACE:  I believe there's three bullet points there, (i0, (ii) and (iii).  So 27 kilometres would be required immediately for 2017, and I believe the next two -- the 16 kilometers of 12 and the 12 kilometers of 6 -- are either both in 2018, or one is in 2018 and one is in 2019.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Could you find that out for me by way of undertaking?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  I may be able to avoid an undertaking, if you just give me a second here?

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. WALLACE:  So that would be the 12 kilometres of NPS 6 required in 2018, and the 16 kilometres of NPS 12 required in 2019.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And these incremental facilities that we're looking at here, I gather, would be required even if the proposed project goes through, but in 2022?  Is that correct?

MR. WALLACE:  They would be.  The proposed project essentially raises the pressure on the entire 20-inch line.  Therefore, you don't need these downstream facilities as soon.  You need them later on to facilitate additional growth in the market.

But because we're using – I’ll call it a fractional or portional alternative supply, we're bringing additional supply and we're only building 27 kilometres of our proposed project, we're not raising the pressures enough on that NPS 20.  And therefore, we do need to reduce that pressure loss from the 20-inch line into the market.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  Then this is my last area of questioning, and it pertains to some of the issues that Dwayne explored with you this morning, but I have slightly different questions.

You will have to excuse me as the newbie in the room, if some of my terminology is not as precise as it could otherwise be.

But I want to ask about the constraint that I think we were discussing that arises from the Sandwich transmission compressor station.  Dwayne had asked you this morning to explore the option of having a second compressor and what the implications of that would be, so I don't want to ask that.

But other than adding a second compressor, are there alternatives that would enable Union to move more gas through that Sandwich transmission compressor station, such that deliveries from Ojibway could be increased and we could feed more of the line from east of Sandwich?

MR. WALLACE:  So the Ojibway deliveries are arriving on a 3450 KPA or 500 PSI MOP system at a lower pressure than the market that is serving the Leamington-Kingsville area on the -- I will call it the east side of Sandwich transmission station.

So in absence of compressing that gas around, there is no way for that gas to make that leap to a higher pressure.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So the --


MR. WALLACE:  So any capacity gained is done strictly on a displacement basis, meaning I add a unit of supply at Ojibway.

That is one less unit of supply in the Windsor market I need to service through Sandwich.  So I have one more unit of supply available now on the east side of Sandwich.

Now, to get that to the market, there are pressure losses and it doesn't result in a full unit of market that I can serve.  But it is all done on displacement.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I see.  Okay.  And then there is a second alternative that I wanted to ask you about, and ask you if it was at all feasible.

If we were to increase Union's maximum capacity to accept imports from Ojibway by moving the gas past the Grand Marais transmission station on the NPS 16 instead of the 20, is that a feasible alternative?

MR. WALLACE:  It's the same issue.  We're moving from a lower-pressure regime to a higher-pressure regime.  Grant Marais being a regulating station, that is intended to regulate gas from the 4140 kPa MOP system into the 3450 kPa MOP system.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So it is not a viable option, I guess, in the absence of significant compression force;, is that --


MR. WALLACE:  We'd have to -- we'd have to you -- yeah, you have to add compression or something in that end as well.

MR. QUINN:  We had some discussions in order to try and divvy up these questions.  I thought this was a fair question.

The assumption I think you're making, Mr. Wallace, is that the 16/20-inch that is east of Grand Marais is running at May on.  If this were a summer condition and the gas was being received, could you not -- is there any restriction in flowing the gas past Grand Marais up to Dawn at 3450 or less?

MR. WALLACE:  Oh, in the summertime sending gas back on the 16?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think that's --


MR. WALLACE:  Yeah, sorry, I thought we were dealing with a winter design-day condition here.

MR. QUINN:  Well, you've constrained your winter deliveries by your summer ability to take gas, and --


MR. WALLACE:  My summer ability to take gas that I've identified, the 115 tJs, takes into account all those alterna -- all those possibilities of moving gas.  So that is allowing the gas that's coming into Ojibway to feed as far as it can reach market-wise, and the remainder has to get back to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  And recalling FRPO 14 -- which is somewhat -- that is based on -- none of the gas gets back to Dawn.  It is all absorbed by the market.  Correct?

MR. WALLACE:  None of the gas gets back to Dawn?  FRPO 14?  Let me have a look at FRPO 14.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry if I am looping you back, but I just want to make sure we have clarity in IGUA's questions and the feasibility of -- which I did not ask -- of getting back through Grand Marais.

MR. KEIZER:  Are you talking about the summertime?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just clarify:  Was IGUA's counsel asking about the wintertime?

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I was, but I think that now Dwayne is asking a follow-up question.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  The summer limitations constrain winter ability.  That is where the connection is.

MR. WALLACE:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, you're looking at FRPO 14 again at the schematics?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. WALLACE:  Could you rephrase -- sorry, could you repeat your question?

MR. QUINN:  I thought in interpreting that, Mr. Wallace, I was seeking confirmation that none of the gas physically gets back to Dawn in that summer design condition, because I believe, if you go down to the bottom left, it might be easiest if Mr. Gagner can expand it.  I think that is 114.  Yes, thank you for going down to the summer simulation.  Yes.  If you just go right down to the total at the bottom, I think it's -- the total is 114 -- on the left-hand side, sorry.

So the capacity is 115 and the total owed is 114, and the difference is fuel?

MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  Yes.

So if you look at the -- go through the line items, you will see a Dawn west line and a Dawn line item.  One for 16,000 and change gJs per day, one for 6,000 and change gJs a day.  Those are volumes that are making it back to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Oh, that is helpful to clarify.  So a total of about 72 is getting back to Dawn.

MR. REINISCH:  Right.  Some of the other -- these are all, again, the same market laterals.  So these are all volumes being served along the way.

MR. QUINN:  So then help me again -- and this may be part of your design, when you talk about how you came up with your limitation.  What limits you to 115 versus going to, let's say, 150 in the summer, if the increment would just get back to Dawn?

MR. WALLACE:  I have to be able to physically transport it back to Dawn.  I have to have the compression of pipe available to get the gas back to Dawn.  And in this scenario I have maximized my compressor utilization.

MR. QUINN:  But you haven't flowed gas back through Grand Marais.

MR. WALLACE:  I have in this scenario.

MR. QUINN:  So could you not flow more gas back through Grand Marais?

MR. WALLACE:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Why not?

MR. WALLACE:  I believe we're getting -- we have maximized our flow back along that path as well.

MR. QUINN:  Well, again, this may go to the undertaking you have already provided.  If you could clarify what's the constraint.  That is the part that I don't understand, and obviously IGUA's questions are leading there.

If as part of the undertaking you're clarifying what that constraint is, why you can't feed more gas back through Grand Marais, that would be helpful.  Thank you, Laura.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And I have no further questions on behalf of IGUA.

MR. MILLAR:  All right.  Thank you very much.

I am advised that Mr. Aiken has had something come up, but many of his questions have already been asked.  So he will not be participating this afternoon.

Mr. Garner, would you like to go --


MR. GARNER:  Yes, I have a time constraint, and --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. GARNER:  -- so if --


MR. MILLAR:  Why don't you go.

MR. GARNER:  -- you don't mind I think I will be very brief too, and in order to be even briefer I will not bring you to every interrogatory but just ask the questions directly.
Questions by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  I get a little bit confused as we went through some of this, and as sometimes happens with these things.  So let me just go back to the issue of interruptions and interruptible customers.

First of all, I want to be clear.  I am correct that on a design day, you just -- on your design day all interruptible loads are off the system.  Isn't that right?

MR. WALLACE:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  And am I also correct, in this application is not about you trying to ensure that interruptible customers aren't interrupted.  Your idea here is to serve interruptible customers who are expressing an interest to go firm, presumably because they did not like being interrupted.

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Now, in BOMA 3 there's a forecast growth by the region.  And you went through this with Mr. Aiken and you have an undertaking to look into how the forecast is -- how it is put together, so to speak.

But I am wondering, is it possible for us to understand from that table that is on -- included in that interrogatory, is it possible for us to tell how much of the forecast growth by region, tJ by day, is interruptible customers you are forecasting to go firm?

MS. CAILLE:  Let me just see if I can find a reference in another interrogatory response.  Just give me a moment.

Thanks to my colleague, in APPrO 2(a) we've got identified in the winter of '17/'18 46 tJs of conversion from interruptible to firm service.  So that is a forecast based on the customers that are outstanding, partially derived from the remaining customers from the Leamington expression of interest, but there are other customers within Chatham-Kent and the Windsor area that are also included in those numbers.

MR. GARNER:  There would have to be, if I am understanding it correctly and got my math correct, because you have 73 total, and you're saying 46 -- is it 46?  46 is firm -- are interruptible going firm?

So a little bit more than half?  Okay, thank you.

And one of the risks, obviously, as a consequence of the forecast not coming to fruition, and those customers not taking your offer of going firm, if that happens, am I correct that one of the things that Union still can do is use that capacity it's built in order to facilitate shippers, C-1 shippers, out of Ojibway?  I know you don't want to rely on them for system gas, but you can facilitate them with that project?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, what that would allow us to do is to help us to -- or allow us to reduce the purchases that we would make on the Ojibway Panhandle system.

So for example, in the scenario where we showed the fact that we have 37 that we can rely on that does have Rover rights, it would give us the ability to actually not have to renew that 37 of Rover, if those contracts, when they go to Rover, are unacceptable terms.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Help me, Mr. Shorts, here.  This is the part where I got confused also, is that on the PEPL line, as I sort of was beginning to understand, is that there was a service someone was trying to make or do to have a delivered service at Dawn by PEPL.  That is part of the reason that capacity is being used up, because they have a delivered service they want to offer.  Is that your understanding too?

MR. SHORTS:  It's our understanding that Rover has committed to the -- whatever leftover capacity is on the Ojibway system to be able to provide that capacity then to Dawn as part of their Rover deliveries to Dawn service.

MR. GARNER:  So where I am really are just trying to go with this, and just get your understanding or your view is, I am trying to understand what the back-stop for risk is of the in-franchise forecast not coming to fruition and having basically the ability to mitigate that by the fact that you can use that capacity otherwise.


Will there be an opportunity to do that, if there is a shortfall in the in-franchise forecast?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, it would be something, if we potentially get to, say 2019 or 2020, and we end up in a situation where we have to go for a ROFR on the capacity and it's a term that we can't accept from a cost perspective, then it would allow us to actually de-contract or not re-contract on that, and use the Dawn deliveries instead.

MR. GARNER:  Great, thank you.  So now I want to switch gears, but in the same direction.


One of the things you have proposed to do differently is to change the cost allocation due to demand differences between St. Clair and Ojibway, right.

So what I am wondering is if in-franchise demands do not come forward, and in fact there is more C-1 activity, would that impact the cost allocation concept or proposal at all?

MS. MIKHAILA:  We've proposed a cost allocation of this project that's related to the in-franchise demands, largely because the projects required for the gas to flow westerly and any C-1 contracts would be counter flow to that and flow easterly.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  You’re going to have to say it simpler for me.

Would it change the cost allocation that you would propose, though?  Would the cost allocation you have proposed in this application be then subsequently changed?

Let me put it a different way.  You, in one of your answers, have said the next time we're going to look at cost allocation will be 2019, correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.


MR. GARNER:  And in that application, that will be what I call holus-bolus, because you will be looking at the whole utility, right?


MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  So what I am wondering is if the customers that are looking to go -- that you're thinking are going to go firm don't -- and I know, you know, we might argue that that may not happen -- and in fact the capacity is utilized otherwise for C-1 customers, et cetera, that in 2019 we would be looking at continuing -- having a different allocation done.


Might we have that happen, if that were to happen?


MR. SHORTS:  Just to clarify, we are not talking about using -- creating more C-1 capacity because of this.


We're actually talking about Union not having to purchase capacity through the PEPL system, and actually to deliver that gas and buy it at Dawn.


So remember the C-1 capacity travels Ojibway to Dawn, and we're really talking about being able to now just utilize Dawn to Ojibway capacity essentially to offset the need for Union to buy potentially more expensive or onerous supply for the sales service customers.

We're not creating more -- we wouldn't be doing it to sell more C-1 capacity.  It would be just to replace the Union purchases that could have been contracted on Ojibway if, for example, those contract terms and price were no longer economic for us.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  I think that covers it.  One second.

Well, actually I am still a little bit confused, but let me think about that.


But let me go back to the issue of just the cost allocation then, and maybe ask the question this way.

What would need to happen in 2019 in order for this proposed cost allocation that you have here to be revisited and potentially changed?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The current cost allocation we have for the project is just specific to the project.  So it doesn't include the existing costs that were -- are there before the project.


So in 2019, we will revisit the costs of the whole system.

MR. GARNER:  Where I am going with the questions really on the cost allocation is you have proposed a deferral account for the revenue requirement.  But what I am wondering is why it wouldn't be as equally a good thing to have a deferral account for the cost allocation and then, when you were able to eventually do the complete cost allocation in 2019, you would then roll out any of the changes that came out of that, rather than doing it in one increment and not looking at the whole picture.

Why wouldn't that be a better or more -- safe isn't really the word I mean, but, you know, I mean more equitable because you are looking at part of the picture right now, but not the whole picture.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if we have an answer because we haven't really considered it, so I think you are asking us to create a position.


MR. GARNER:  Maybe I am putting a position forward rather than asking a question.

I guess what I am trying to understand from Union's point of view is how big, or what the risk is that there might be a change in the cost allocation in 2019 that in some ways reverses or changes the cost allocation that you are doing now, and we're two years away from that exercise.


So I am trying to get -- ascertain how big is that risk or that sort of thing.  Is there any way you can help us with that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I guess I am not understanding what the concern is, if the cost allocation changes in 2019.

MR. GARNER:  Well, the concern, from what I can see from the customers that I am here to represent, is that they are given a fairly large change in this cost allocation of cost to them, isn't that right, as opposed to the Board's current methodology?  And if that should turn out to be incorrect, then they wouldn't want to pay that money.

MS. MIKHAILA:  I would say anything that we have proposed in 2019 would be from that point prospectively.


I would not say that anything approved as part of this application would be incorrect.  It would be a position for the 14 months leading up to 2019.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Those are all of your questions, Mr. Garner?

MR. GARNER:  I think they are, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, do you have anything?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Rubenstein?

Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just a couple odds and ends from what was discussed earlier.

First, with respect to the map, KT1.1, maybe you could help me understand why on the NPS 16 line between Dover and Grand Marais, part of it -- it is NPS 16 line, but then a part of it has been upsized to a NPS 20 in the middle.  Can you …


MR. WALLACE:  Yes.  There is an impetus from a class location perspective to replace some of this pipeline, and we took advantage of that opportunity to upsize the pipe, again just a little bit of incremental capacity.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So you don't need to necessarily turn this up, but in SEC 8, we had asked you for correspondence with the government with respect to the Climate Change Action Plan.  And your position was it’s not really relevant about Union's position on the Climate Change Action Plan and their discussions with government; fair enough.


My question is a little bit more narrow than that, or what I was trying to get out of the question.

Is Union aware, through its discussions with the government for whatever purpose, about the implementation of the Climate Change Action Plan that would be any different than what the government has released that would materially affect demand forecasts for natural gas going forward?

MR. KITCHEN:  Could you just repeat the question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I am trying to remember what I specifically asked.

[Laughter]

MR. KITCHEN:  That's why I asked.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What I am looking to understand -- I will just give you the context.  What we're looking to understand is, Union has proposed a depreciation -- the useful life of the asset from the normal terms of 20 years primarily based on the climate change action plan and the expectations about what natural gas demand will be over the long-term based on that climate change action plan.

What we were trying to understand from this interrogatory is, is Union aware, through its discussions with government as it discusses many aspects, is there any further information that you have with respect to the implementation of the climate change action plan that is not on the -- that is not -- the government hasn't disclosed on the public record that I have -- my client has access to, that would materially change any of the assumptions that Union made in its original application?

MR. KITCHEN:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  The rest have been asked by other parties upstream.

MR. GARNER:  Can I follow up on that?  It is Mark Garner.  Just one thing about the shorter depreciation?

In the alternative, if the Board were inclined not to do that and gives you -- you use the current 50-year or whatever it is depreciation period, and your projections of the asset falling into disuse happen, in your view, what happens at that point in time?

I mean, why I am asking is it seems to me is what happens in most periods when any asset you have right now is partially used and useful, you are still collecting for that asset in your rates.  Your rates just go up to collect that cost, right?

I mean, I am wondering where the risk arises for the utility in not utilizing the regular depreciation rate.

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Garner, the risks arise in the long-term for a utility in a circumstance over 30, 40 years where you might potentially have a significant decline or reduction in natural gas demand in the franchise such that Union couldn't reasonably look to continue to recover the costs of the investment from the remaining customers.

Certainly in the shorter medium term, we would expect if the application is approved the Board is going to rule that the facilities are in the public interest, and we would generally have a reasonable expectation of cost recovery.  But longer-term, again, over that 30-, 40-year -- 30-, 40-, 50-year time frame, that would ultimately be the concern and the risk to Union.

MR. GARNER:  I guess -- I understand the concern about the policy change and the risk of natural gas use, et cetera.  But what I don't really follow is how that differs from any other asset you are putting in today, tomorrow, and every day, because it seems to me that risk is utility-wide.  Every asset is subject to the same risk of cap and trade and the government banning natural gas, so to speak, right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Certainly going forward, I think it is fair to say that any new investment we do will be coloured, I guess, with cap and trade and climate change action plan.

We have also called out in our evidence in our interrogatory responses in numerous areas that this is something we have got to take a look at from a system-wide perspective for the utility as part of our rebasing application for 2019.

MR. GARNER:  So that is interesting.  So like cost allocation, may I suggest perhaps the -- it is a broader issue that needs to be examined in a, as I used the words, holus-bolus method in your rate application, because you are saying it is not just -- it is not about this project.  It is about the utility's investments.

MR. TETREAULT:  It is about both.  It has manifested itself initially in this particular project, but it is a concern from a system-wide basis that we need to address the impacts of as part of our next rebasing.

MR. GARNER:  And again, would it be possible conceptually, wouldn't it, to create a deferral account to capture the impact of your concerns and then deal with it later as a broader issue, right?

MR. KEIZER:  I think, again, that is an issue we haven't dealt with directly in the evidence.  You --


MR. GARNER:  I will just leave the suggestion on the table and then leave it at that.  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  And sorry --


MR. QUINN:  I do have a follow-up to Mr. Garner's question, because in thinking it through, if there was declining utilization of natural gas, wouldn't the reasonable approach, if you have facilities that are in excess, is that you would retire the older existing 20-inch line, as opposed to the 36-inch line, first?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know, Mr. Quinn.  I don't know what --


MR. QUINN:  I'm looking at the --


MR. TETREAULT:  -- would happen in that scenario.  I mean, we would have to address that if and when that concern materialized itself.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess I am looking at Mr. Wallace.  If you are getting decreased requirements at some point you have reached a point where one pipe could be taken out of service.  Wouldn't it be reasonably expected that the smaller pipe would reach that threshold first?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Quinn, I think you're creating a hypothetical where there's not all of the facts available, the facts on this case, which deals with our demand growth, but obviously if we're talking about a 20-year period of which we're looking to depreciate this asset, so --


MR. QUINN:  On the hypothetical basis that the demand is going to be reduced.

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, a way --


MR. QUINN:  So --


MR. KEIZER:  -- out in the future.  But we don't -- you know, I don't -- if we were all able to forecast, you know --


MR. QUINN:  I am not asking for precision.  I'm saying would the threshold for being able to take a pipe out of service not be reached first by the 20-inch, as opposed to the 36-inch?  I think it is intuitively obvious, but I am looking for the panel to confirm.

MR. WALLACE:  I mean, if we are looking strictly from a capacity hydraulic perspective, then, you know, you reach a certain threshold again hypothetically of decline, then it might point us in the direction of a 20-inch instead of 36-, because again you need the 36 capacity, but again, that is just assuming we're looking strictly at that as a criteria for determining which pipeline we would --


MR. QUINN:  Well, the other criteria --


MR. WALLACE:  -- abandon -- you wouldn't even abandon any pipeline, but --


MR. QUINN:  The criteria you would consider beyond capacity would be condition and maintenance costs and those types of things, correct?  And would it not stand to reason that an older pipe would have more maintenance cost than a newer pipe?

MR. HOCKIN:  Mr. Quinn, we're getting into a policy position, but I will just offer you an observation.  The perspective that you are taking is a physical perspective.  There is also a financial perspective, and that is to say, if you have two pipes, you're saying if demand goes down you should get rid of the old pipe.

The financial perspective is you still have a very expensive pipe that you need to cost-recover from a lower number of customers, and that is really what the financial perspective is, and that's what the depreciation impact is attempting to recover.

MR. QUINN:  But it would then be used or useful -- with the 20-inch out of place and from a financial perspective, Mr. Hockin, do you know what remaining depreciation life is on the 20-inch pipe?

MR. KEIZER:  This is not an alternative in this proceeding.

You are asking basically -- the proceeding is bought because of demand that actually will materialize in 2017. And your hypothetical relates to things that, you know, aren't even a factual basis within this proceeding, and, you know, we're not here to talk about taking assets out of service within the context of what climate change is.  There is a whole other proceeding that will likely happen with respect to climate change and the implications for it.

So, I mean, I just think that we're -- it is not a relevant line of questioning, and it is no use to continue to pursue it.

MR. QUINN:  Union has created the hypothetical.  This pipe capacity may not be needed for the long-term.  I am just looking at alternatives as what you would do if that were the case, but I see that we're having the risk of going in circles, so Mr. Millar, I won't ask any more questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Before we move to Staff, is there anyone on the phone, in particular anyone who has any questions?

Hearing none, Mr. Viraney will be asking just a couple of questions on behalf of Staff.
Questions by Mr. Viraney:

MR. VIRANEY:  I believe we forwarded some questions, and I am just wondering whether you can do -- respond to it as an undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, we were otherwise engaged.  So could you please repeat your question?

MR. VIRANEY:  We did forward some questions to the panel, and I am wondering if you are going to respond to them as an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we would be happy to hear the answer now, but they were presented, I think, as a chart, so it was the type of thing that might be more suitable for an undertaking.

MR. HOCKIN:  In regards to question one, your request is to add some data to Staff 3D, attachment 1.

MR. VIRANEY:  Yes.

MR. HOCKIN:  I don't know what your last line says, which says:
“Please provide a comparison of the project and the LNG alternative in a separate table.”

I don't know what that means.

MR. VIRANEY:  That's okay.  It is just A and B, I guess; I don't believe we need that.

MR. HOCKIN:  Okay.  We have that -- yes, we will do that as an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to be clear, is JT1.24, and that is to provide a response to Staff questions 1(a) and (b) that were pre-filed on Friday.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.24:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE TO STAFF QUESTIONS 1(A) AND (B) THAT WERE PRE-FILED

MR. MILLAR:  And question 2, as well?

MR. HOCKIN:  Sorry I was speaking in regards to 1.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So (a) and (b) for 1?  Is that agreed to?

MR. HOCKIN:  I would be happy to do A-1 – sorry, 1(a) and (b).  I am not responsible for (b) and I don't know who’s got that – sorry, for question 2.

MR. KEIZER:  Question 2, yes.

MS. CAILLE:  So question 2(a), I can respond to.  The question was:  Has Union been able to meet a portion of the 48 tJ of unmet demand from the Leamington-Kingsville area.  We have not been able to contract firm demands for those customers.

So those customers are -- some of which are served with interruptible capacity, and some of which chose not to build or withdrew their application at this time.  So that has not been fulfilled with firm capacity.

MR. KEIZER:  You are also looking for (b) and (d)?

MR. SHORTS:  And for (b), we have outlined the short term options.  But again, we've -- the short term options aren't going to provide us with the capacity we need over the longer term to be able to serve what the demand increase is forecast to be.

MS. CAILLE:  And I will tackle (c).  In the short term, and I think we have covered this under a few different fronts today, but when it comes to winter 2017-18 for the forecasted firm loads that we've projected, we would need to begin to refuse customers from attaching, if we didn't have incremental capacity supplied by this leave-to-construct application and being able to build.

So we did mention in Board Staff 4(c) about the impacts around our forecast.  We're standing by the forecast that we have submitted of growth, even with the risks around climate change that have been identified.

We don't believe in the short term that that will have a material impact and this forecast, as submitted, shows that our pipeline will become constrained again within a five-year window.

So we believe strongly that the pipeline needs to be built, so that we can continue to service general service customers as well as the waiting contract rate customers.

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe, Mr. Millar, as well -- maybe what we can do as well just for clarity of the record, if there are things that we have to provide to supplement those answers, we can supplement them in writing and provide them to you.

MR. MILLAR:  So we do have the response to 2.  If there is something else you wish to add by way of undertaking, that's fine.

We have a single undertaking that has already been marked as JT1.24, and that is to provide the question to Staff's pre-filed question 1.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. VIRANEY:  And I have just a few clarification questions, and that references Board Staff IR number 3(a) and it is point number 3 (ii).

It says Union has held discussions with in-franchise power customers located in the Windsor area to determine if there is interest in reducing firm transportation demand.

Can Union provide an update whether additional capacity is available from power customers?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  Currently there is no -- none of the power customers who were able to provide any capacity for the period in question starting November 1 of 2017.

MR. VIRANEY:  And reference Board Staff IR number 4(b) and our response notes that Union has met with certain trade associations such as IGUA, APRO, CME, and OGVG and reviewed its proposal, including Union's approach on the 20-year useful life for depreciation.

What was the feedback of the trade associations?  Did you receive any specific comments on Union's proposed approach with respect to depreciation?

MS. CAILLE:  We didn't receive specific comments at that time.

We did share with them that we were going to be providing the 20-year depreciation and then, in the appendix material, providing the Board-approved depreciation rates.  But there wasn't specific commentary received at that time.

MR. VIRANEY:  Thank you.  The reference is BOMA IR number 5(b), and in that you refer to two greenhouse gas operators that are considering expanding out of the province.

Has Union heard from any other greenhouse operators in the Windsor are that are also considering expanding out of the province?

MS. CAILLE:  There are a couple of others who are contemplating, but no others have made any decisions.

I will say there are more than 100 greenhouse operators within the region that we're looking at, so there are two that have located part of their facilities in Ohio. But there is still a very strong greenhouse demand within the region that we expect to continue, and we are having ongoing discussions with the association to ensure -- the Greenhouse Vegetable Growers Association to assure their forecasts are aligned with ours.

MR. VIRANEY:  Have any greenhouse operators cancelled their expansion plans?

MS. CAILLE:  Not that I am aware of.  Some have deferred being able to do expansion because they can't get firm capacity.  So they don't want to build, expand their operations with interruptible service.  They're waiting for firm capacity before expanding.

MR. VIRANEY:  The reference is IGUA IR number 2(b).  In that, Union has indicated there is forecast to be a surplus of 48.5 tJs per day during the winter of 2017-2018, and I believe that surplus is created as a result of the facility is built and put into service.

MR. WALLACE:  Yes, that is 106 tJs less the demand that is required in 2017-18.

MR. VIRANEY:  When does Union expect that the surplus capacity will be used up?

MR. WALLACE:  Five years by winter 2021-22.

MR. VIRANEY:  So from 2017-18 to 2020-21-22, you will have that 48 and a half tJ of surplus capacity, or it will gradually decline?

MR. WALLACE:  It will gradually decline between winters, starting in winter 2018-19 through to 2021-22.

MR. VIRANEY:  Thank you.  The reference is SEC IR number 1, and that is attachment 1.  That is the presentation, it is page 7.

It is a slide and it shows cancellation costs, and the first item there is the pipe.  So has Union already ordered the pipe for the facilities?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. VIRANEY:  So you would incur cancellation costs if the project is not built or it is deferred?  Even if it is deferred, you will incur those costs?

MR. WALLACE:  I am not familiar with the exact cancellation schedule.  But in theory, there would be a cancellation cost associated with that.  We have to order the pipe a significant period of time in advance in order to secure the mill space.

MR. VIRANEY:  Those are all of my questions, thank you.

MMS CRNOJACKI:  Mr. Millar, I think --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Ms. Crnojacki.

MS CRNOJACKI:  -- I have something to add, and that has to do with Union's undertaking to respond to Board Staff question 1, how we forwarded to you the matrix that compares the alternatives.

IGUA mentioned and asked for some additional information on the CNG as an alternative.  So I would think it would be practical to have that alternative included in that matrix as well as an undertaking.  Is it number 22?

MR. MILLAR:  It was JT1.24.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  24, that’s right.

MR. KEIZER:  I'm not sure whether or not they're the same type of question or not, because I know the CNG alternative wasn't spelled out the same as the other alternatives.

MS CRNOJACKI:  Yes, that's correct.  There may be some blanks, but at least there will be some costs and maybe timing and, you know, whatever is available in terms of information that you have.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess what we could suggest is that we would respond to IGUA's undertaking and, to the extent there is any information that arises from that response that is suitable, we could, you know, note it or somehow otherwise indicate it within the context of the matrix, but I don't know if it would be a perfect fit.

MS CRNOJACKI:  That will do, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I think that concludes all of the questions for today.  Any final matters, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  No, there is not.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much to the witness panel and the court reporter, and we are adjourned.
--- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 3:15 p.m.
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